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About the Medical Council

The Medical Council is the regulatory body for doctors. It has a statutory role in protecting the public by 
promoting the highest professional standards amongst doctors practising in the Republic of Ireland.

The Council has a majority of non-medical members. The 25 member Council consists of 13 non-
medical members and 12 medical members. The Council receives no State funding and is funded 
primarily by doctors’ registration fees.

The Medical Council maintains the Register of Medical Practitioners - the Register of all doctors 
who are legally permitted to carry out medical work in Ireland. The Council also sets the standards 
for medical education and training in Ireland. It oversees lifelong learning and skills development 
throughout doctors’ professional careers through its professional competence requirements. It is 
charged with promoting good medical practice.

The Medical Council is also where the public may make a complaint against a doctor. 
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President and Vice 
President’s Statement

It is our pleasure to publish the Annual Report and Financial Statements 
of the Medical Council for the year ending 31st December 2017. This is 
the last full year’s Annual Report from this current Council as our term 
will conclude in May 2018, with elections taking place in early 2018 to 
elect a new Council.

As we reflect back over 2017, we acknowledge the 
work of both the members of the Medical Council and 
the staff of the Executive who have continued to work 
diligently throughout the year to fulfil the statutory remit 
given to the Medical Council by the Medical Practitioners 
Act 2007. 

It has been a busy year for the Council with numerous 
highlights. In March 2017, the Medical Council and the 
Office of the Ombudsman signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) that will allow for the exchange of 
information and complaints between both offices. The 
MoU benefits both the public and health services. It also 
established procedures to assist members of the public 
in accessing the services of both organisations.

2017 saw the Medical Council and the Pharmaceutical 
Society of Ireland work collaboratively in developing 
guidance on issues of joint concern to both medical 
practitioners and pharmacists. This collaboration is an 
excellent opportunity for us to target those matters that 
affect outcomes and hinder best practices in patient 
care. Our first joint guide is on the Safe Prescribing and 
Dispensing of Controlled Drugs and was published in 
October. 

We continued to provide leadership and work 
closely with national stakeholders to help drive real 
improvement in the education and training system. 
Over the last number of years, we have met with key 
stakeholders to present the views of trainees and 
discuss how their experience of postgraduate training 
can be enhanced. The Your Training Counts survey was 
carried out this year once again. This survey continues 
to help drive ongoing support and improvement in 
trainee experiences in Ireland, which will undoubtedly 
make a positive impact on the retention and satisfaction 
of doctors within the system. 

The Medical Council together with the Forum of 
Postgraduate Medical Training Bodies, hosted a one-day 
Symposium, “Addressing the Challenge of Compliance 
in the Maintenance of Professional Competence (MPC)”. 
The implementation of professional competence 
schemes has been successful thus far and doctors’ 
engagement with MPC requirements has been positive. 
The Symposium facilitated discussion on how the 
Professional Competence Scheme model would be 
advanced in line with national and international best 
practice. 

We continue to offer doctor’s support through our 
Health Committee comprised of both medical personnel 
and non – medical members who are involved in the 
healthcare and medical sector. Our Health Committee 
plays an important role in supporting doctors to 
continue in practise during illness or difficult times.

The Council’s purpose is to protect the public by 
promoting and better ensuring high standards of 
professional conduct and professional education, 
training and competence among doctors. This would not 
be possible without the support of our stakeholders, the 
public, external members of committees, the members 
of the Council, the staff of the Executive and most 
importantly, the registered medical practitioners. 

Professor Freddie Wood Dr Anthony Breslin 
President Vice-President   
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Chief Executive 
Officer’s Review

Welcome to our 2017 Annual Report. In what has been a productive year 
for the Council, it is a pleasure to review what’s been achieved. 

Our annual registration retention process was carried 
out in June, which has resulted in the highest ever 
number of medical practitioners on the register. Over 
22,600 doctors are now registered with the Medical 
Council, an increase of almost 1,000 on 2016. As you 
will see later in the report, for the first time, the number 
of registered medical practitioners on the Specialist 
Division surpassed that of practitioners on the General 
Division.

One of our major objectives for 2017 was to engage in 
a more direct way with our stakeholders. Throughout 
the year, I was delighted to visit a number of hospitals to 
speak to doctors, outlining our work here at the Medical 
Council, and answering any questions that arose. This 
is a feature we intend to continue through 2018, and 
details of upcoming hospital visits will be available in the 
near future. Members of staff also attended numerous 
events during the year, hosting information stands 
for both medical professionals and the public. These 
events included the Medical Careers Day, the St. Luke’s 
Symposium at RCPI’s National Education Day for Doctors 
in Training, and the National Patient Safety Office 
Conference. We look forward to continuing and growing 
our levels of engagement with our stakeholders in 2018 
and beyond. 

In August, we launched a consolidated report on Your 
Training Counts 2014 – 2016, our annual national 
trainee experience survey. Now, with three years of 
cumulative data, it was a timely opportunity to assess 
the impact on trainee experiences of the remedial 
actions which have been taken to address earlier 
findings. In doing so, we have identified areas where the 
survey is having a positive impact and highlighted areas 
where efforts need to be concentrated over the coming 
years. Results of Your Training Counts 2017 will be 
published in 2018. 

Our Education, Training and Professionalism team were 
busy during the year too, with the roll out of clinical 
training site inspections across the country. These site 
visits were influenced by the results of previous Your 
Training Counts surveys, and highlight the importance of 
trainees completing the survey. It is also our opportunity 
to speak directly to trainees in order to establish the 
strengths and weaknesses in specialist training and 
identify opportunities for improvement, and these visits 
will continue in 2018. 

Another development of note that took place during 
the year was our ongoing engagement with the 
Postgraduate Training Bodies regarding the topic of 
Professional Competence Schemes. We co-hosted 
a very well received Symposium on the subject, with 
input from the Postgraduate Training Bodies, the Health 
Service Executive, indemnifiers, and the Private Hospital 
Association, among others. The discussion around the 
maintenance of professional competence is something 
we’ve been focussed on for a while, and we’ve made 
significant progress in raising enrolment rates working in 
collaboration with our stakeholders. 

In mid-2017, our Vice President Dr Audrey Dillon stepped 
down from the role due to her increasing professional 
commitments. The vacant position was filled by Dr 
Anthony Breslin, a specialist in Public Health Medicine. 
Dr Dillon held the position from inauguration of this 
Council in 2013, and I’d like to express my gratitude 
for her commitment and energy in contributing to many 
projects over the years. Thanks too to Dr Breslin for 
taking over the role and his contributions in the months 
since. 

On a similar note 2017 was the last full year for our 
current Council, with this term coming to an end in May 
2018. These past five years have been a very positive 
time for the Medical Council, with several significant 
changes taking place during their tenure, and we’re very 
grateful for all the guidance and leadership shown by 
this Council. I would also like to express my thanks to the 
staff of the Medical Council for their professionalism and 
dedication to our work.

2018 promises to bring lots more exciting changes 
and with an election imminent, we look forward to 
commencing a new chapter in the coming months.

William Prasifka  
Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Strategy 2014 - 2018
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Strategy
Wheel

Create a supportive 
learning environment 

to ENABLE GOOD 
PROFESSIONAL 

PRACTICE

Develop an 
EFFECTIVE AND 

EFFICIENT REGISTER that is 
responsive to needs of public 

and medical profession

Develop a 
SUSTAINABLE

AND HIGH 
PERFORMING 

ORGANISATION

Build an 
organisational 

culture that 
SUPPORTS 
LEADERSHIP AND 

LEARNING

Enhance patient safety
through RESEARCH

AND GREATER 
ENGAGEMENT

Maintain 
confidence by 

developing a 
PROPORTIONATE 

AND TARGETED 
APPROACH TO 

REGULATORY 
ACTIVITIES

In 2014, the Medical 
Council introduced the 
Statement of Strategy 
for the period of 2014 
– 2018. This plan set 
out the direction of the 
Council and outlined 
six strategic objectives 
to be addressed which 
are underpinned by 
five core values. 

The Council set six strategic objectives for its term:

1. Develop an effective and efficient register that is responsive to the 
changing needs of the public and the medical profession. 

2. Create a supportive learning environment to enable good professional 
practice.

3. Maintain the confidence of the public and the profession in the Council’s 
processes by developing a proportionate and targeted approach to 
regulatory activities.

4. Enhance patient safety through insightful research and greater 
engagement. 

5. Build an organisational culture that supports leadership and learning. 

6. Develop a sustainable and high-performing organisation.

The Statement of Strategy enters its final year in 2018 with work to begin on 
the new Statement of Strategy for 2019 - 2023 in early 2018. 
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Vision, Mission and Values

Vision

Mission

Values

Providing leadership to 
doctors in enhancing good 
professional practice in the 

interest of patient safety

Ensuring high standards 
of education, training and 

practice among doctors for the 
benefit of patients

1  We encourage diversity, engagement and 
learning to help us be a better organisation 

2 We strive to further enhance trust between 
patients, doctors and the Medical Council

3 We lead by example setting high 
standards for ourselves and for the 
doctors and organisations we regulate

4 We act in a respectful, fair, empathetic 
and consistent manner

5 We make independent informed 
and objective decisions and we 
are accountable for them
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Professor  
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Dr Ruairi Hanley Mr Sean Hurley

Professor  
Alan Johnson

Professor  
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Ms Catherine McKenna Ms Margaret Murphy Mr John Nisbet

Professor  
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Mr Tom O’Higgins Dr Michael Ryan Ms Cornelia Stuart Dr Consilla Walsh
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Executive Management Team

Bill Prasifka

CEO 

Wendy Kennedy

Director of Corporate 
Services

Philip Brady

Director of Registration 
and Business Process 
Improvement

Jantze Cotter 

Director of 
Professional 
Development and 
Research 

William Kennedy

Director of 
Regulation

Úna O’Rourke 

Director of Education, 
Training and 
Professionalism



22,649

4,244,627

58%

51%

x2

+4% 356

35%
DOCTORS ON THE REGISTER 

Medical Workforce Breakdown

MALE
of registered doctors are
35 YEARS OLD OR YOUNGER

pass rate pass rate

WEBSITE PAGE VIEWS IN 2017

Social Media followers
MORE THAN DOUBLED IN 2017

COMPLAINTS 
RECEIVED

compared to
4,083,370 in 2016

62%

an increase of 4%

42%
FEMALE

up from
21,795
in 2016

Computer Based Pre-Registration
Examination System (PRES)

Clinical Based PRES
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Registration

The Medical Council maintains the Register of Medical Practitioners, 
which in 2017 reached its highest ever membership, with 22,649 doctors 
on the Register. 

Changes to Professional Indemnity 
requirements
Some major changes were instigated around registration 
requirements in 2017. One of the biggest changes to 
impact on registered medical practitioners were the 
amendments to requirements surrounding Professional 
Indemnity.

Professional Indemnity is a mandatory requirement, 
protecting the practitioner against claims arising in 
respect of medical malpractice, negligence and other 
civil claims that arise from a breach of duty associated 
with your practice as a doctor. All doctors practising 
medicine in Ireland must have indemnity cover 
appropriate to the nature of their employment/practice 
arrangement and their area of practice. 

The Minister for Health, Simon Harris TD, signed the 
commencement order for The Medical Practitioner’s 
(Amendment) Act 2017, which came into effect 
on Monday, 6th November 2017. This Act amends 
the Medical Practitioners Act 2007, and outlines 
new mandatory legal requirements for all medical 
practitioners currently registered or applying to register 
with the Medical Council regarding levels of professional 
medical indemnity.

Divisions of the Medical Register
For the first time, in 2017 the number of registered 
medical practitioners on the Specialist Division 
surpassed that of practitioners on the General Division. 
This follows a trend over recent years. 

Divisions 2015 2016 2017

General Division 42% 8,547 42% 9,102 41% 9,274

Specialist Division 41% 8,370 40% 8,807 41% 9,306

Trainee Specialist Division 12% 2,371 12% 2,669 12% 2,811

Intern Registration 4% 932 5% 995 5% 1,081

Supervised Division 1% 224 1% 195 1% 157

Visiting EEA 0% 29 0% 27 0% 20

Total  100% 20,473 100% 21,795  100% 22,649
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Doctors by Location of Primary Qualification 
58% percent of registered medical practitioners in Ireland in 2017 received their primary medical qualification in Ireland 
with a further 14% receiving their qualification in another EU member State or European Economic Area country. 28% 
of registered practitioners received their primary medical qualification outside of a European Union member state or 
European Economic Area country. 

Categories of Applicant 2015 2016 2017 

Category 1 (Qualified in Ireland) 12,519 61% 12,827 59% 13,116 58%

Category 2 (EU Citizen qualified in EU/EEA) 2050 10% 2,254 10% 2,415 11%

Category 3 (Non – EU Citizen qualified in EU/EEA) 689 3% 776 4% 816 3%

Category 4 (Qualified outside EU/EEA) 5,215 26% 5,938 27% 6,302 28%

Total 20,473 100% 21,795 100% 22,649 100%

Full Registration Statistics can be found on pages [insert as applicable]:

 Ý Pre-registration Examination Statistics

 Ý Divisions of the Medical Register

 Ý Categories of Applicant

 Ý Gender Breakdown

 Ý Age range of doctors on Register

For the first time, in 2017 the number
of registered medical practitioners on 
the Specialist Division surpassed that of 
practitioners on the General Division. 
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Professional Standards

The main functions of the Professional Standards team are to support 
the work of the Preliminary Proceedings (PPC) and Fitness to Practise 
Committees (FTPC) and Monitoring Working Group. 

This includes corresponding with complainants and registered medical practitioners with regard to complaints filed for 
review by the PPC, and organising Fitness to Practise hearings into the conduct, fitness to practise, poor professional 
performance, or relevant medical disability of registered medical practitioners. 

They also prepare documentation for each PPC and FTPC meeting, deal with the correspondence following those 
meetings, and draft the arising minutes for approval. The Professional Standards staff deal with complainants, doctors 
and doctors’ legal representatives on a daily basis, as well as drafting guidelines required under the legislation and 
carrying out investigations on the direction of the PPC.

In 2017, 356 complaints were received by the Medical Council. 

The Complaints Process at a Glance

Ý No further action; or

Ý Referred to another body or 
authority or to the Medical 
Council’s professional 
competence scheme; or

Ý Resolve by mediation or other 
informal methods

Ý Advise, admonish (warn/
cauton) or censure (reprimand) 
the doctor in writing;

Ý Censure the doctor in writing and 
fine him or her up to €5,000;

Ý Attach conditions to the 
doctor’s registration;

Ý Transfer the doctor’s name to 
another division of the register;

Ý Suspend the doctor’s registration 
for a specific lenght of time;

Ý Cancel the doctor’s registration;

Ý Prohibit the doctor from applying 
from restoration to the register 
for a specified period.

No finding

Preliminary Proceedings 
Committee (PPC)
Investigates complaint

STAGE 1

Investigation

Fitness to Practice 
Committee (FTPC)
Hears evidence at inquiry and makes 
findings in relation to allegations

STAGE 2

Inquiry

STAGE 3

Sanction
Medical Council
Considers inquiry report and 
sanctions doctor

A case for further action

Finding
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Case Studies

The Professional Standards team often receive 
queries from medical practitioners about what 
might constitute grounds for complaints, and 
how those complaints might progress. Below 
are some sample case studies inspired by actual 
complaints received and investigated by the PPC. 

Case Study A

The complainant’s brother, Mr X, resides in a care home. Mr X has a learning disability and 
communication difficulties. Mr X attended Dr Y with his social care worker, he had developed 
haemorrhoids and needed to be examined. It is alleged that Dr Y refused to see Mr X. Mr X said Dr Y 
would not examine Mr X without a nurse present. It is alleged that Dr Y was extremely agitated and spoke 
in a derogatory manner to the social care worker and to Mr X asking ‘Why the hell is he here?’ 

Later that week Mr X was again taken to see Dr Y by a care assistant. It is alleged that Dr Y was rude 
to Mr X and the care assistant and made them wait 25 minutes while Dr Y saw other patients who had 
arrived in to the surgery after Mr X. 

When Dr Y did attend to Mr X, Dr Y told the care assistant that Mr X ‘did not know what was going on’.  
Dr Y again refused to examine Mr X as Dr Y wanted a nurse present. Dr Y questioned the care assistant’s 
qualifications and told him that the examination of Mr X would not happen with someone who did not 
have a medical qualification in attendance. This exchange took place with Mr X present. The complainant 
alleges that her brother was very upset and distressed by these two visits.

The Preliminary Proceedings Committee carried out a number of investigations in relation to Dr Y.  
The Committee requested a response from the doctor in relation to the complaint. The Committee also 
requested a statement of events from the care assistant and social worker. Having regard to all of this 
information, the Committee formed the opinion that there was not sufficient evidence to refer the doctor 
to an inquiry however, Dr X should be referred to a professional competence scheme in relation to his 
communication skills with patients. 

Case Study B

The complainant had suffered a fall and attended her GP several times for treatment of her injuries. She 
requested her medical records and a medical report for medico legal reasons. Despite numerous contact 
with the doctor’s office via letter and phone, the complainant was unable to retrieve a copy of her records. 
The patient made a complaint to the Medical Council two years after first requesting her information 
from her GP. The committee requested a response from the practitioner, they also directed that the GPs 
response be sent to the complainant for her comments. The doctor responded by apologising and noting 
that the doctor had failed in their duty to furnish the requested records and report. 

The Committee formed the opinion that the complaint should be referred to a professional competence 
scheme for performance assessment. This referral was based on concerns regarding context of practice, 
to include but not limited to, administrative systems, management and administrative support, record 
keeping, workload management and maintaining good medical practice. The Committee was satisfied 
that performance assessment should be utilised for the purpose of enabling the Medical Council to 
satisfy itself as to Dr X’s ongoing maintenance of professional competence and to support Dr X’s with 
best practise in these areas.
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Case Study C 

The complainant attended an appointment at a GP practice with Dr B as she had a concern about a 
lump in her vagina. The complainant underwent a vaginal examination and alleged that Dr B did not 
offer to leave the room while she got undressed, and had to be requested to do so on two occasions. The 
complainant alleged that Dr B did not give her anything to cover herself with for the examination, and that 
she felt exposed and was not offered the option of a chaperone. 

The complainant further alleged that the examination was rough and painful and Dr B did not find the 
cause of her medical problem. The complainant stated that she went to the practice the next day and was 
seen by a different doctor, who resolved the problem she was experiencing. 

The Committee carried out a number of investigations in relation to this complaint. The Committee 
requested the doctor’s response to this complaint, and the complainant’s comments on this response. 
The Committee also requested the medical records in relation to this appointment. 

The Committee formed the opinion that Dr B should be referred to a professional competence scheme for 
a performance assessment based on concerns regarding good clinical care in the area of women’s health. 

The Committee recommended performance assessment specifically related to the doctors operative 
and technical skills regarding vaginal examinations, the importance of offering a chaperone, and clinical 
management in the assessment of the patient’s condition specific to the area of women’s health.

The Committee was satisfied that performance assessment should be utilised for the purpose of enabling 
the Medical Council to satisfy itself as to Dr B’s ongoing practice.

Case Study D

The complainant attended the Oral and Maxillofacial 
Department in a clinical site, to have a small piece of 
tissue removed from her gum. The complainant alleges 
that the surgery has left her ‘with severe problems that 
can’t be reversed and affect her everyday life.’ Dr X, who 
was a registrar at the time, performed the surgery. Dr X 
was under the supervision of a senior doctor who was 
not in attendance on that day. The complainant alleges 
that Dr X was not registered with the Medical Council 
on the date that the procedure was performed. The 
complainant also alleges that Dr X was not registered 
with the Dental Council during this time either. 

The Committee carried out several investigations in 
relation to this complaint. They requested a response 
from the doctor, and the complainant’s comments 
on this response. The Committee also requested the 
complainant’s records and the internal investigation 
file be obtained from the clinical site. Dr X admitted 
that Dr X was not registered on the day of the surgery. 
Pursuant to section 63 of the Medical Practitioners Act 
2007, the Committee formed the opinion that there is a 
prima facie case to warrant further action being taken 
in relation to the complaint against Dr X, the matter 
being sufficiently serious, decided to refer the matter 
to the Fitness to Practise Committee on the grounds of 
Professional Misconduct. 

Statistics on complaints, findings 
and outcomes and be found on 
pages [insert as applicable]:

 Ý Origin of complaints received

 Ý Complaints by gender

 Ý Complaints by divisions of the 
Register

 Ý Complaints by age range

 Ý Area of Qualifications

 Ý Types of complaints received

 Ý Complaints considered by PPC

 Ý Monitoring Committee

 Ý Health Committee

 Ý Fitness to Practise Inquiries

- Inquiries Held

- Outcomes

- Public/Private

- Sanctions imposed

- Legal representation

- Reasons for private hearings

- Section 60 applications
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Professional Competence

The Professional Competence team is responsible for implementing 
the system for the regulation of the maintenance of professional 
competence. This is achieved through operating and monitoring 
schemes for the maintenance of professional competence applicable 
to all registered medical practitioners and schemes for the assessment 
of professional performance in response to specific concerns regarding 
individual registered medical practitioners.

Since the inception of mandatory Maintenance of 
Professional Competence (MPC) in May 2011, much has 
been progressed and achieved to facilitate Registered 
Medical Practitioners’ (RMPs) compliance with the MPC 
requirements. Enrolment on Professional Competence 
Schemes (Schemes) and engagement in the CPD 
activity promoted by the Schemes has been positive. 
Noticeable improvement has been reported by the 
postgraduate medical training bodies (PGTBs) during the 
early implementation of the MPC.

As the MPC model has been implemented, the Medical 
Council, in collaboration with the Postgraduate Training 
Bodies, has sought to support and address issues that 
have arisen through audit and verification processes. 
Two key action areas were addressed during 2017: 

1.  Addressing Non-enrolment on a Professional 
Competence Scheme; and 

2.  Evolvement of the MPC model. 

Addressing Non-enrolment 
on a Scheme
Through its monitoring role, the Medical Council 
established that the enrolment rates on a Scheme 
should be higher than what was being reported by the 
PGTBs. However it was identified in December 2016 that 
the data used to determine the size and characteristics 
of the non-enrolled pool was inconsistent. 

The Medical Council took steps to rectify this during 
the course of 2017. The PCS declaration contained in 
the Retention of Registration process was amended 
and all RMPs were required to have paid their Scheme 
enrolment fee prior to completing the retention for 
registration form. Three data snapshots were obtained 
from the PGTBs from June to December of RMPs 
enrolled on their Scheme and RMPs on training 
programmes. The Medical Council also contacted RMPs 
to remind them of their legal obligation to enrol on a 
Scheme and engage in MPC activity. 

A collaborative effort between the Medical Council 
and PGTBs has resulted in increased enrolment rates, 
with approximately 95% now being compliant. The 
Medical Council continues to engage with stakeholders, 
particularly employers who have a responsibility for 
ensuring the RMPs they employ are enrolled and 
engaging in ongoing MPC, and will actively pursue non-
enrolled RMPs, enforcing regulatory action as required.

Evolvement of the MPC model

The Medical Council also has a role to play in reviewing 
the operations of Schemes and recommending 
improvements. In 2017, Scheme reporting was 
streamlined to focus on a smaller set of key 
performance indicators which measure compliance 
with CPD activity, annual review process and costs, 
and provide more information on trends to develop the 
Schemes. A deadline was introduced for registered 
doctors to enrol in a Scheme. Increased communication 
to doctors on compliance via the training bodies, the 
Medical Council and various newsletters was also 
undertaken.

In October, the Medical Council and Forum for 
Postgraduate Medical Training Bodies jointly organised 
a Symposium, focussing on addressing the challenges 
in MPC and developing Schemes. The Symposium was 
well attended with participants from, among others, 
Postgraduate Training Bodies, the Health Service 
Executive, indemnifiers, and the Private Hospital 
Association. A number of key opportunities were broadly 
defined on how to facilitate and manage maintenance 
of professional competence compliance, especially 
emphasising the need to move away from considering 
professional competence as a box ticking exercise and 
engage in more meaningful lifelong learning. These will 
be implemented from 2018.
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The Medical Council’s Performance 
Assessment Procedures
The Medical Council’s performance assessment 
procedures are a non-punitive pathway for supporting 
RMPs who are experiencing performance issues that 
can be remediated through a professional development 
process. 

In 2017, 13 cases were referred for performance 
assessment and covered a range of medical specialties. 
The performance assessment can incorporate a 
number of activities such as record review, case-based 
assessment, direct observation of the doctor, peer 
and patient feedback, and self-reflection. Occupational 
Health Assessment is available where necessary 
to establish if any personal, physical or mental 
health problems may have influenced the doctor’s 
performance. 

Following a performance assessment, an action 
or professional development plan may need to be 
completed dependant on the range and scope of any 
areas for development. The RMP must demonstrate that 
any actions required for remediation are completed.

Typically, these include attending and completing record 
keeping, prescribing and communication skills courses. 
Self-reflection is also utilised in order for the doctor 
to consider their actions that resulted in referral to 
performance assessment and how such referral could 
be mitigated in the future. 

The performance assessment procedures available 
to the Medical Council seek to support the doctor in 
identifying areas for development in their day to day 
practice whilst also helping to reassure the public that 
doctors are keeping their knowledge and skills up to 
date. 

 

The performance assessment procedures available
to the Medical Council seek to support the doctor

in identifying areas for development in their day
to day practice whilst also helping to reassure the

public that doctors are keeping their knowledge
and skills up to date.
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Education, Training 
and Professionalism

Accreditation

Undergraduate medical education 
and training
In 2017, the Medical Council conducted re-
accreditation visits to two medical schools to assess 
three undergraduate medical education and training 
programmes in total, namely the Direct Entry 
Programme at National University of Ireland, Galway 
(NUIG); and both the Direct Entry and Graduate Entry 
Programmes at University College Cork. 

Intern Training
Initial findings from the annual survey of NCHDs and 
Interns, Your Training Counts, highlighted a need to 
prioritise concerns raised regarding the quality of intern 
training – a crucial first year of postgraduate clinical 
experience for all medical graduates. The Medical 
Council initiated the formation of a new Medical Intern 
Board, comprising representatives from the Medical 
Council, HSE NDTP, Forum of Postgraduate Training 
Bodies, Intern Network Executive, Irish Medical Schools 
Council and the National Lead NCHD. The Board was 
formed following a consultation process involving all 
key stakeholders. Its purpose is to streamline the 
governance of the intern year with the ultimate aim of 
providing a more consistent, high-quality experience 
for interns, leading to better-trained doctors, for better 
patient outcomes. The Board had its inaugural meeting 
in October 2017 and will continue its work in 2018. The 
Council is very grateful to the HSE for accommodating 
Board meetings and funding and accommodating 
a new Medical Intern Unit to provide much-needed 
administration and leadership to run and develop the 
intern training programme. 

Specialist medical training
On the recommendation of the Medical Council, 
following a thorough accreditation process, the Minister 
for Health approved the following Specialist Medical 
Training Programmes in 2017:

 Ý Vascular Surgery

 Ý Pharmaceutical Medicine

 Ý Paediatric Cardiology 

 Ý Neonatology

 Ý Geriatric Medicine

 Ý Respiratory Medicine

 Ý Sports and Exercise Medicine

 Ý Military Medicine

Clinical Training Sites
Clinical training sites where intern and specialist training 
are delivered are required to meet standards set by 
the Medical Council, to ensure they are suitable for 
training. These sites, which include hospitals, clinics, 
GP practices, etc., must be inspected by the Medical 
Council to assess if the standards are being met. In 
2016, the Medical Council decided to adopt a “regional” 
approach to clinical training site inspection visits, 
starting with HSE Hospital Group sites, and a four-year 
schedule of Regional Inspection Visits commenced in 
2017. The Medical Council visited the Saolta University 
Healthcare Group in May and the South/Southwest 
Hospital Group in November. A total of nine clinical 
training sites underwent a thorough inspection visit and 
the reports of these visits will be published by mid-
2018. 
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External review of specialty 
recognition process
The Medical Council currently recognises 57 
medical specialties for the purpose of registration 
in the Specialist Division of the Register of Medical 
Practitioners. Most of these specialties were 
“grandfathered” over when the Medical Practitioners 
Act 2007 commenced. The Irish healthcare system 
is relatively small when compared to other developed 
countries, such as the UK, USA, Canada and Australia. 
The need for medical specialisation must be counter-
balanced with the need to maintain appropriate 
healthcare services for the population of Ireland. It was 
therefore decided that, before any further specialties 
are recognised by the Medical Council, a full, external 
review of the process of recognising specialties should 
be undertaken, bearing in mind international practice 
and alternatives to specialty recognition. This review 
was completed in 2017 and the Council will consult with 
relevant stakeholders on a newly proposed process in 
early 2018. 

Recruitment of new Assessor Panel
When the Medical Council accredits undergraduate 
and postgraduate medical education and training 
programmes and inspects clinical training sites, it 
forms an Assessor Team to conduct the accreditation/
inspection and write a report, which is then approved by 
the Council via its Education, Training and Professional 
Development Committee. Some years ago, the Medical 
Council identified a set of competencies required to be 
an Assessor for Medical Council Education and Training 
matters, before recruiting a Panel of Assessors. A 
procurement process was undertaken this year to invest 
in appropriate training for these Assessors. The Medical 
Council was delighted to recruit 31 new Assessors to 
the Panel in 2017. Assessor Training will commence in 
2018 and the Medical Council looks forward to working 
with the Panel on its many accreditation and inspection 
activities. 

Joint Guidance with the 
Pharmaceutical Society
Following the launch of the Council’s ‘Guide to 
Professional Conduct and Ethics for Registered 
Medical Practitioners’ (8th Edition, 2016) and booklet 
entitled: ‘Working With Your Doctor: useful information 
for patients’ last year, the Council, in collaboration 
with the Pharmaceutical Society of Ireland, formed a 
Joint Working Group to develop guidance for doctors 
and pharmacists/pharmacies on areas of ethics 
and professionalism which are of joint concern to 
both professions. The first joint Guide entitled Safe 
Prescribing and Dispensing of Controlled Drugs was 
launched in November this year, following the recent 
changes in Controlled Drugs regulations, which are also 
addressed in the joint Guide. 

Anatomy
The Medical Council is committed to inspecting, 
collating and publishing annual returns from places 
licensed for anatomy practice in Ireland. A database of 
anatomy donors is maintained and 110 donations were 
made to medical schools in Ireland during 2017. This 
was an increase of 12 in comparison to 2016 when 98 
donations were made. 

Medical School No. of 
anatomical 
donations

2016 2017

National University of Ireland Galway 11 20

Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland 33 38

Trinity College Dublin 12 5

University College Dublin 19 19

University College Cork 23 28

Total 98 110
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Corporate 
Services

Finance
During the 2017 Financial Year the Finance team 
successfully implemented a necessary upgrade of the 
Finance Accounting Software, transitioning from Integra 
I to Integra II. The system has moved from a client 
based server to a web based server allowing increased 
mobility and efficiency within the Finance function. This 
will support the Council in maintaining a sustainable 
and high performing organisation in line with Strategic 
Objective 6 of the Council’s Strategy.

The Finance team have also implemented changes in 
public sector circulars and legislation with regard to 
payroll, expenses and financial transactions throughout 
2017 in a timely and efficient manner which in turn has 
benefited our stakeholders.

Human Resources
The number of employees at the Medical Council grew 
in 2017, following approval by the Department of Health 
of the Workforce Plan which had been in development 
for a number of years. Several key vacancies were filled 
during the year, with this process expected to continue 
in coming months. 

With the focus on recruitment this left little time 
for projects however the team continued to roll out 
the Leadership and Development programme and 
conducted a review of the internal Performance 
Measurement and Development process. The team 
have also begun a programme to address succession 
planning within the organisation to support our staff in 
their careers and ultimately maintain the expertise and 
specialist knowledge that enables the organisation to 
deliver at the level it does.

Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT)
Unfortunately the Medical Council tragically lost a long 
serving staff member, our Head of ICT, Jim McDermott 
suddenly in January of 2017. Over the course of his 
career with the Medical Council he was involved in many 
areas of the business and significant projects within 
facilities and ICT such as our office move from Lynn 
House to Kingram House in 2009. In recent years he 
led the ICT team in supporting the Council and its future 
direction. He is sorely missed and will be remembered 
by all of his friends and colleagues at the Medical 
Council.

The ICT department has undergone significant change 
in 2017 with a new team members rolling out significant 
projects supported and implemented across the 
organisation. Progress on strategic projects is well 
underway to enhance the ICT infrastructure and ensure 
best in class levels of support and service to our clients 
and stakeholders, both internal and external, in the 
coming years. 

The ICT department has begun the process of reviewing 
the ICT policies and maintaining key relationships with 
third party providers to deliver on its strategic goals. 
These include:

 Ý Membership of HEAnet

 Ý Upgrade of our phone system

 Ý Significant service tenders
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Communications
Throughout 2017, the Council took the opportunity 
to get out and meet our stakeholders in person. 
CEO Bill Prasifka attended several events, including 
Grand Rounds at University Hospital Galway, Grand 
Rounds at St James’ Hospital, Dublin, and a speaking 
opportunity at University Hospital Waterford where he 
spoke to groups of doctors about the role of the Medical 
Council, ongoing work, and future plans. In addition, 
the Communications team spearheaded a number 
of appearances at other events, with support from 
an Internal Engagement Group, including the Future 
Health Summit and the National Patient Safety Office 
Conference. 

There were 949,610 visits to the Medical Council 
website in 2017, up 11% on visits the previous year. The 
most popular page after the homepage was “Check the 
Register”, which received 283,350 unique page views, 
an increase of 29% on 2016. The Medical Council’s 
social media presence has developed further over the 
past 12 months. Increased engagement with our various 
audiences is of key importance to the Communications 
team, and our social media channels provide the perfect 
platform to interact with all stakeholders. 

Procurement and Facilities
A number of key procurement items were delivered 
in 2017 including the implementation of a new 
Procurement Policy. 21 new contracts and 17 contract 
renewals were successfully completed by the in-house 
Procurement Team as well as utilising available OGP 
Frameworks. These services and supplies included 
Insurance Brokerage, Internal Audit, HRM System, IT 
Hardware and Software, Catering, Disaster Recovery and 
Cold Site, Omnibus/ research, Translation, Training and 
Engineering. 

Key Facilities Management items delivered 
during 2017 include:

 Ý Delivery of energy consumption reduction of 
82,466.49 kWh on 2016 figures in excess of the 
2017 target under Council’s Energy Management 
Programme. Further recommendations arising out of 
the SEAI mentoring programme were implemented in 
2017 including the installation of LED lighting retrofit. 

 Ý In line with the Council’s Information Governance 
Framework, a Record Audit was completed with 
Record Management policies implemented in 2017 
to reflect best practice.

Corporate Governance and Council
The first set of guidelines on corporate governance in 
State bodies entitled “State Bodies Guidelines” was 
published by the Department of Finance in March 
1992. The guidelines were updated in October 2001 
and May 2009. The 2016 update by the Department 
of Public Expenditure and Reform is to take account 
of governance developments, public sector reform 
initiatives and stakeholder consultations. The Medical 
Council have been working to ensure compliance with 
the updated code since its release and even provided 
the Department of Health with a working compliance 
template which was recognised for its value and 
disseminated for use amongst the other regulators 
under its aegis.

The team also undertook a governance review of the 
Council and its term under the new Code of Practice to 
ensure that the incoming Council of 2018 can benefit 
from any recommendations and learnings arising from 
the 2013 – 2018 Council term. This report is due in 
2018.
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Freedom of Information

The Medical Council received 50 Freedom of Information 
requests in 2017, an increase of 15 requests on 2016 
figures. The requests broke down to 23 personal, 25 
non-personal and two were a mix of personal and non-
personal requests. 

 Type of Requests 2017

Personal 23

Non Personal 25

Mixed 2

No. of Freedom of Information Requests 2017

Brought Forward from Previous Year 2

Requests received in Current Year 50

Cases answered in Current year 52

Live Cases at year end 0

Status of Requests 2017

Granted 10

Part Granted 17

Refused 10

Withdrawn/Outside FOI 14

Transferred 1

The Corporate Services Directorate team supported 
the Council and the following Committees and 
groups throughout 2017;

 Ý Audit Strategy and Risk Committee

 Ý Nominations and Development Committee

 Ý ICT Sub Committee

 Ý Asset Management Review Group -> Property 
Strategy Review Group

 Ý Equality and Diversity Group

Extensive progress and work flows through 
these Committees to ensure best practice and 
progression in areas such as;

 Ý Corporate Governance 

 Ý Financial management

 Ý Risk

 Ý Independent reviews such as audits, testing of 
processes and infrastructure

 Ý Training and Development

 Ý Strategic decision making
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Risk Management

Introduction

The Medical Council recognises 
the importance of adopting 
a proactive approach to 
the management of risk, to 
support both the achievement 
of objectives and compliance 
with statutory and governance 
requirements. 

The Council is committed to ensuring that risk 
management is embedded both as part of normal day 
to day business, and informs the strategic, business 
and operational planning and performance of the 
organisation. 

To this end, the Medical Council is dedicated to 
effectively managing its risk on a formal basis, and 
in pursuit of this objective, the Council has set out a 
framework consisting of a series of simple but well-
defined steps to support ongoing risk management, to 
raise the awareness of risk and the need to manage 
it consistently and effectively across all levels of the 
organisation. 

Risk management is the identification, assessment, 
and prioritisation of risks followed by coordinated and 
proportionate application of resources to control the 
impact of events or to maximise opportunities.

The risk management framework in operation within 
the Medical Council is designed to support the ongoing 
monitoring, review and management of risks and was 
developed with reference to the Code of Practice for 
the Governance of State Bodies 2016, ISO 31000 Risk 
Management standards and other published guidance 
for risk management in the public and private sector.    

Role of the Board of Council and 
Committee: Audit Strategy and Risk 
The Board of the Medical Council leads on the appetite, 
tolerance and management of risk, with the support of 
the Audit Strategy and Risk Committee, who oversee 
the quarterly risk register reports. The risk register is 
designed to identify, manage and mitigate potential 
material risks to the achievement of the Council’s 
strategic and business objectives. A sectional Risk 
Register is compiled by each section of the Medical 
Council administration, and coordinated and reported to 
the Audit Strategy and Risk Committee and the Medical 
Council, by the Chief Risk Officer.

The level of risk tolerance and appetite by the Medical 
Council is explained below. A sample of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the Council in the short 
to medium term are also set out below, together with 
the principal measures in place to mitigate against such 
risks. This is not an exhaustive statement of all relevant 
risks and uncertainties. The mitigation measures that 
are maintained in relation to these risks are designed 
to provide a reasonable, but not absolute, level of 
protection against the impact of the events in question. 

Risk Appetite
Risk appetite refers to “the amount of risk that an 
organisation is prepared to accept, tolerate, or be 
exposed to at any point in time”. 

The Medical Council, as any organisation, must accept 
an element of risk across its activities. However, as a 
public interest organisation, the Medical Council will 
seek to mitigate risk as far as possible. Its key role 
is to protect the interests of the public when dealing 
with medical doctors and as such, its risk appetite 
is generally low to zero. It recognises however, that 
to successfully deliver on its mission, to enhance 
its public service role and provide a greater return 
to key stakeholders, it must be prepared to avail of 
opportunities where the potential reward justifies 
the acceptance of a certain level of additional risk. 
In recognition that risk may arise at multiple levels 
in varying forms, from taking strategic decisions to 
implementing supporting actions, a risk register is 
compiled at regular intervals throughout the year, and 
reported to the Audit, Strategy and Risk Committee, and 
the Council. 
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The Medical Council has set a number of guiding risk appetite statements across the following 
risk categories:

Category Assessment Risk Appetite Guiding Statements 

Strategic Medium Risk 
Appetite

The Council’s key role is to protect the interests of the public when dealing 
with medical practitioners. Its principle roles in doing so are:

 Ý assuring the quality of undergraduate education of doctors  

 Ý assuring the quality of postgraduate training of specialists  

 Ý registration of doctors  

 Ý disciplinary procedures  

 Ý guidance on professional standards / ethical conduct 

 Ý professional competence

The Council will take opportunities where considered justified by the 
potential economic and societal rewards, despite a greater level of inherent 
risk. Its risk appetite in relation to certain new strategic and policy decisions 
is generally low, due to its critical public interest role. However, in certain 
circumstances where the need for a progressive change or advancement 
is deemed appropriate the risk appetite will be medium. Any such actions 
require consideration and approval by the senior management team and 
the Council. The organisation will in all such cases seek to mitigate the 
inherent risks in the implementation of these decisions, to the extent 
possible. 

Finance & 
Funding 

Medium Risk 
Appetite

The Medical Council is funded almost exclusively by the annual payments 
of registered doctors; no funds are received from government or other 
sources. Its funding arrangements are as such relatively stable and allows 
for an element of long term strategic planning. Its risk appetite in this area 
reflects its strategic risk appetite and is generally low to medium. 

The Council will maintain its high financial stewardship standards and will 
continue to ensure that financial commitments do not exceed available 
resources. Its risk appetite in relation to financial stewardship is low. 

Reputational Medium Risk 
Appetite

As the Council’s key role is to protect the interests of members of the public 
in their dealing with medical doctors it is important that there is confidence 
in the integrity of its activities and processes and that it is seen to offer 
a tangible return to all its stakeholders. Its risk appetite in relation to 
perceived failures in this area is generally low. 

The Medical Council recognises that it must always be conscious of its 
critical public duty but that in certain cases it may be necessary to advance 
unpopular initiatives or take unpopular stances where it is considered 
appropriate in the interests of protecting the public. Its risk appetite in this 
area is generally medium. 

Operational Low Risk Appetite Operational includes the management of its principle roles as described 
above and also the management of all support functions which enable the 
fulfilments of its principle roles. 

The Council has developed a comprehensive and rigorous framework 
including policies and procedures to support operational management and 
as such its appetite for risk in this area is generally low. 

Compliance Zero Risk Appetite The Council defines policies and procedures to support its legal and 
compliance requirements. The Council expects full compliance, and will 
avoid any risk or uncertainty in this area. As such its risk appetite in the 
category of compliance is generally zero. 
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SNAPSHOT OF KEY RISKS AS OF NOVEMBER 2017
Regular reports are provided to the Audit, Strategy and Risk Committee 
and Council on the principal risks facing the organisations. A summary of 
some of the key risks as at November 2017 is provided below:

The Medical Council
recognises the importance
of adopting a proactive
approach to the management
of risk, to support both the
achievement of objectives and
compliance with statutory
and governance requirements. 

Ý Personnel / Workforce Planning 
An inability to fill vacant roles without Department 
authorisation has led to a loss of skill and increased 
workload for remaining staff. This has presented 
challenges in a number of areas and effected 
operational efficiency in 2017. 

Implications for 2018 – It will be imperative that 
vacant posts are filled as soon as possible in 
2018 to ensure efficiency within the organisation 
and counter a rising employment market, and 
the Medical Council will continue to work with the 
Department of Health to develop a more sustainable 
approach to manpower planning.

Ý Legal and Regulatory Compliance / 
Legislative Developments
Implications for 2018 – the Medical Council will 
seek to work closely with the Department of Health 
in 2018 to inform legislative developments and seek 
changes where it believes it is in the interests of 
patients and doctors. 

Ý Finance
The Medical Council has noted as a standing risk 
item the exposure to significant Pension Liabilities 
leading to long term funding challenges. Whilst the 
Council is not alone in this challenge we are seeking 
clarity and support from the relevant government 
departments as to how best we meet these 
commitments.

Ý Complaints & Fitness to Practise 
The Medical Council’s complaints systems are 
designed to address issues with doctors’ fitness to 
practise in order to best protect the public. Systems 
must operate within a strict legislative framework 
with decisions open to legal challenge. There is a 
reliance on others, not only to notify the Medical 
Council of potential issues with doctors’ practise, 
but to assist and facilitate this office in their efficient 
investigation and consideration of complaints and 
inquiries. This can bring an ongoing risk that the 
Medical Council are not well informed, or not in a 
position to take action or investigate a matter as 
quickly as they may wish. 

Implications for 2018 – The Medical Council will 
continue to engage with employers, hospitals 
and colleagues within the health system so that 
concerns about doctors are addressed at the 
appropriate level within the health system, and that 
the Medical Council can benefit from co-operation 
and efficiency from all parties when investigating 
a matter. Suggested legislative amendments will 
be progressed with the Department of Health 
with a view to ensuring that the legal framework 
underpinning complaints systems is as robust as 
possible. 

Ý Professional Development and Practice
Risk of failure to achieve timely registration 
processing as a result of mismatch between 
application volumes and registration resources 
leading to backlogs

Implications for 2018 - The Medical Council will 
continue to review its processes and increase 
stream lined efficiency initiatives to minimise any 
potential for delay in applications being processed.
Risk of damage to reputation of Medical Council 
owing to failure to effectively and efficiently utilise 
performance assessment.

Implications for 2018 – The Medical Council will 
continue to engage with reviewing and refining the 
use of performance assessment, to ensure an 
effective, efficient and proportionate use.
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Categorisation of all Risks on the register November 2017
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Council Members and Other Information

Offices Kingram House 
Kingram Place 
Dublin 2

Auditors Comptroller & Auditor General 
3A Mayor Street Upper 
Dublin 1

Bankers Bank of Ireland 
Rathmines Road 
Rathmines 
Dublin 6

Solicitors McDowell Purcell 
The Capel Building 
Mary’s Abbey 
Dublin 7

President Professor Freddie Wood

Vice President Dr Audrey Dillon – Resigned 15th May 2017

Dr Anthony Breslin – Appointed 15th May 2017

Chief Executive Officer Mr William Prasifka

Council Professor Freddie Wood

Dr Audrey Dillon

Dr Anthony Breslin

Dr John Barragry 

Ms Katharine Bulbulia

Mr Declan Carey 
– Resigned 29th March 2017

Ms Anne Carrigy

Dr Sean Curran

Dr Rita Doyle

Ms Mary Duff

Professor Fidelma Dunne

Dr Ruairi Hanley

Mr Tom O’Higgins

Mr Sean Hurley

Professor Alan Johnson

Ms Marie Kehoe-O’Sullivan 
– Resigned 29th March 2017

Professor Mary Leader

Ms Margaret Murphy

Mr John Nisbet

Professor Colm O’Herlihy

Dr Michael Ryan

Ms Cornelia Stuart

Dr Bairbre Golden

Mr Fergus Clancy

Ms. Catherine McKenna 
– Appointed 3rd October 2017

Ms. Vicky Blomfield 
– Appointed 4th May 2017

The current term of office for the Medical Council began on 1st June 
2013 when the 8th Council took office.
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Governance Statement and Council 
Members’ Report 

Governance
The Medical Council was established under the 
Medical Practitioners Act 1978 (updated in 2007). 
The functions of Council are set out in section 7 of 
this Act. The Council is accountable to the Minister for 
Health and is responsible for ensuring good governance 
and performs this task by setting strategic objectives 
and targets and taking strategic decisions on all key 
business issues. The regular day to day management, 
control and direction of the Medical Council are the 
responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and 
the senior management team. The CEO and the senior 
management team must follow the broad strategic 
direction set by the Council, and must ensure that all 
Council members have a clear understanding of the key 
activities and decisions related to the entity, and of any 
significant risks likely to arise. The CEO acts as a direct 
liaison between the Council and management of the 
Medical Council.

Council Responsibilities 
The work and responsibilities of the Council are set 
out in the Governance Framework and the Terms of 
Reference, which also contain the matters specifically 
reserved for Council decision. Standing items 
considered by the Council include:

Ý declaration of interests,

Ý reports from committees,

Ý financial reports/management accounts,

Ý performance reports, and

Ý reserved matters.

Section 32 of the Medical Practitioners Act 2007 
requires the Council to keep, in such form as may be 
approved by the Minister for Health with consent of the 
Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, all proper 
and usual accounts of money received and expended 
by it.

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Council is required to:

Ý select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently

Ý make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent

Ý prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Medical Council will continue in operation

Ý state whether applicable accounting standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements

The Council is responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Medical Council and which will enable it to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with Section 32 of the 
Medical Practitioners Act 2007. 

The Council is responsible for approving the annual plan 
and budget. An evaluation of the performance of the 
Medical Council by reference to the annual plan and 
budget was carried out in March 2018.

The Council is also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Medical Council and hence taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Council considers that the financial statements 
of the Medical Council give a true and fair view of the 
financial performance and the financial position of the 
Medical Council at 31st December 2017.
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Council Structure 
The Council consists of a President, Vice President and twenty three ordinary members, all of whom are appointed by 
the Minister for Health. The members of the Council were appointed for a period of five years and meet on a bi-monthly 
basis. The table below details the appointment period for current members:

Council Member Role Appointed Resigned

Professor Freddie Wood President 01/06/2013

Dr Audrey Dillon Vice President to 15/05/2017 01/06/2013

Dr Anthony Breslin Vice President from 15/05/2017 01/06/2013

Dr John Barragry Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Ms Katherine Bulbulia Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Mr Declan Carey Ordinary Member 01/06/2013 29/03/2017

Ms Anne Carrigy Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Dr Sean Curran Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Dr Rita Doyle Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Ms Mary Duff Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Professor Fidelma Dunne Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Dr Ruairi Hanley Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Mr Tom O’Higgins Ordinary Member 28/10/2015

Mr Sean Hurley Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Professor Alan Johnson Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Ms Marie Kehoe-O’Sullivan Ordinary Member 01/06/2013 29/03/2017

Professor Mary Leader Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Ms Margaret Murphy Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Mr John Nisbet Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Professor Colm O’Herlihy Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Ms Cornelia Stuart Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Dr Bairbre Golden Ordinary Member 01/06/2013

Mr Fergus Clancy Ordinary Member 15/09/2015

Ms Catherine McKenna Ordinary Member 03/10/2017

Ms Vicky Blomfield Ordinary Member 04/05/2017

The Medical Council commenced an external Council effectiveness and governance review in November 2017, which will 
be completed in May 2018.

Governance Statement and Council 
Members’ Report (continued)
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The Board has established ten Committees, as follows:

1. Audit, Strategy & Risk Committee
The Audit, Strategy & Risk Committee is chaired by 
Mr. Seán Hurley and will monitor the integrity of the 
financial statements, review the internal control and 
risk management systems and lead on the strategic 
development of the Medical Council. The committee 
comprises eight Council members and two external 
members. There were six meetings of the ASRC in 
2017.

2. Preliminary Proceedings Committee
The Preliminary Proceedings Committee is 
established under Section 20(2) of the Medical 
Practitioners Act 2007 to consider initial complaints 
and is chaired by Ms. Anne Carrigy.

The committee comprises six Council members and 
ten external members. There were eleven meetings 
of the PPC in 2017.

3. Fitness to Practise Committee
The Fitness to Practice Committee is established 
under Section 20(2) of the Medical Practitioners 
Act 2007 to hold Inquiries into complaints and is 
chaired by Dr. Michael Ryan.

Inquiries are heard by a Fitness to Practise “Panel” 
which is made up of three members of the Fitness 
to Practice Committee, two non-medical members 
and one doctor. The Chairperson of the Inquiry 
Panel is a member of the Medical Council and 
is responsible for making sure that the inquiry is 
conducted in accordance with fair procedures.

4. Registration and Continuing Practice 
Committee
Key to the Council’s role is the maintenance of 
the register of medical practitioners, entry to 
which permits doctors to practise in Ireland. The 
Registration and Continuing Practice Committee 
is chaired by Dr. Anthony Breslin and advises 
the Council on policy and statutory frameworks 
governing entry to the register and continuing 
registration of doctors. The Committee comprises 
five council members and seven external members. 
There were eight meetings of the RCPC in 2017.

5. Education, Training and Professional 
Development Committee
The training needs of tomorrow’s doctors and 
ongoing education requirements of those currently 
registered is overseen by the Education,Training and 
Professional Development Committee. The ETPDC 
is chaired by Dr. Colm O’Herlihy. The committee 
comprises six council members and four external 
members. There were seven meetings of the ETPDC 
in 2017.

6. Ethics and Professionalism Committee
The Ethics and Professionalism Committee has 
been established to support the Council’s work 
in supporting the profession’s adherence to best 
international medical practice. The EPC is chaired 
by Dr. Audrey Dillon. The committee comprises eight 
council members and three external members. 
There were four meetings of the EPC in 2017.

7. Nominations and Development Committee
The President, Professor Freddie Wood 
is chair of the Council’s Nominations and 
Development Committee which advises Council 
on the nomination process for appointments to 
committees and also advise on the provision of 
induction, training and development for members. 
The committee comprises four Council members. 
There were six meetings of the NDC in 2017.

8. Health Committee
The Committee is formed under Section 20(4) of 
the Medical Practitioners Act 2007 “to perform 
such functions as are specified by the Council in 
support of:

(a) medical practitioners with relevant medical 
disabilities, and

(b) medical practitioners who have given consents 
under section 67(1)(c)”.

The Health Committee is chaired by Dr. Rita Doyle 
and comprises two council members, one of whom 
is the Chair and ten external members. There were 
seven plenary meetings of the Health Committee 
in 2017 at which reports from sixty four review 
sessions were considered. The Health Committee 
set aside 48 evenings to conduct review sessions 
for those practitioners supported.

Governance Statement and Council 
Members’ Report (continued)
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9. Monitoring Committee
The Monitoring Committee oversees compliance 
by registered medical practitioners in relation to 
conditions attached to the registered medical 
practitioners registration pursuant to sections 53(3) 
and/or 71(c) of the Medical Practitioners Act 2017.

The Committee produces and reviews a bank 
of conditions to assist the Fitness to Practice 
Committee and Medical Council when attaching 
conditions to a registered medical practitioners 
registration. The Committee is chaired by Dr. Ruari 
Hanley. The committee comprises one Council 
member and seven external members. There were 
ten meetings of the Monitoring Committee in 2017.

10. Anonymous Complaints Committee
The Anonymous Complaints Committee can make a 
recommendation regarding whether an anonymous 
complaint should be put before Council so that 
Council can consider becoming the complainant. 
The Committee comprises three council members.

Schedules of all Committee members, sub-committees 
and review groups is set out in an appendix to the 
Annual Report.

Governance Statement and Council 
Members’ Report (continued)
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Schedule of Attendance, Fees and Expenses
A schedule of attendance at the Council and Committee meetings for 2017 is set out in an 
appendix to the Annual report while the fees and expenses received by each member is set out 
below:

Council Member Allowance 2017 Expenses 2017

J Barragry 7,696 408

K Bulbulia 7,696 6,255

A Carrigy 7,696 708

R Doyle 7,696 -

B Golden 7,696 -

R Hanley 7,696 958

S Hurley 7,696 931

A Johnson 7,696 -

M Murphy 7,696 199

C O’Herlihy 7,696 -

M Duff 7,696 2,085

M Ryan 7,696 157

T O’Higgins 7,696 286

D Carey 641 40

A Dillon 7,696 1,177

F Wood 11,970 -

F Clancy 7,696 -

V Blomfield - 75

A Breslin - 6,634

S Curran - 122

F Dunne - 859

M Kehoe O’Sullivan - 796

M Leader - 179

J Nisbet -  160

C Stuart - -

C Walsh - -

128,051 22,029

There were nine Council members who did not receive a Council allowance in 2017 under the “One 
Person One Salary Principle” (OPOS) as listed above.

As a national regulator the Medical Council is represented by members’ from widespread 
geographical areas. The level of Travel & Subsistence received by Council and Committee members 
is directly proportionate to the individual’s geographic location. A number of committee members 
sit on more than one committee. The total fees and expenses paid to committee members in 2017 
is set out below.

Governance Statement and Council 
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Committee Member Allowance 2017 Expenses 2017

T McWade 5,700 -

S McGovern 3,300 -

M Culliton 13,100 2,541

E Breatnach 1,700 -

D Woods - 582

J Casey 9,000 -

A NiRiain 11,400 3,471

A Bulbulia 6,600 1,225

D O’Donoghue 2,700 -

A McNamara 2,100 -

M McGloin 2,400 1,719

W O’Connell 2,100 -

PF O’Carroll 2,100 2,873

J Duignan 7,200 401

A Jeffers 2,100 195

K Beggan 2,100 -

A Quinlan 2,400 173

C McNicholas 4,500 -

R Anderson 5,100 429

V Larkin 3,900 1,727

J Lucey 2,700 -

Mark Murphy 4,200 -

F Magee 2,100 -

J Jenkins 3,000 1,143

S McDonagh 1,200 -

A Clarke - 2,631

A Cunningham 1,500 1,656

J Halley 300 -

T Clarke 1,200 -

J Hennessy 300 -

L Fletcher 600 152

L Costello 6,100 42

M Rhodes - 10,014

S Jones 3,000 -

A O’Reilly 5,000 -

D Mulcahy 4,000 2,891

P Van Dessel 4,000 -

AM Harney 5,500 5,049

D Quinlan 2,500 3,715

E Ryan - 302

Governance Statement and Council 
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Committee Member Allowance 2017 Expenses 2017

W Jeffers 8,500 -

N Macey 1,200 256

M Houston - 906

S O’Flynn - 180

D Ashe 600 -

P McAvoy - 2,060

P Gueret 2,000 -

P Lee 500 -

R Ryan 2,000 -

D O’Hare 500 -

J Tattan-Dennis 2,500 -

M Henry 5,000 -

C Earley 4,500 -

T O’Neill 3,000 -

B Healy 16,000 627

Meg Murphy 1,500 162

S Kealy 3,000 -

M Brophy 1,500 -

G Corrigan 500 -

T Ewing 7,500 -

A Durkan 1,000 -

M Pine 3,000 -

D Morgan 500 145

G Feeney 500 228

P Murphy 1,000 -

P Hamill 300 -

 203,300  47,495 

Key Personnel Changes
Two members of Council resigned during the year. In accordance with the Medical Practitioners Act 
2007 the Minister for Health appointed two new members.

The Head of Finance (HoF), Ms. Deirdre Foley was appointed with effect from 10th July 2017 upon 
regularisation of the post following sanction from the Department of Health.

Disclosures Required by Code of Practice for the Governance of 
State Bodies (2016)
Council is responsible for ensuring that the Medical Council has complied with the requirements of the 
Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (“the Code”), as published by the Department of 
Public Expenditure and Reform in August 2016. The following disclosures are required by the Code:

Governance Statement and Council 
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Employee Salary Breakdown
Employee salaries in excess of €60,000 are categorised in the following bands:

Range of total employee benefits Number of Employees

From To 2017 2016

€60,000 - €69,999 6 5

€70,000 - €79,999 2 2

€80,000 - €89,999 3 3

€90,000 - €99,999 2 2

€100,000 - €109,999 1 0

€110,000 - €119,999 1 1

Consultancy Costs
Consultancy costs include the cost of external advice to management and exclude out-sourced 
‘business as usual’ functions.

2017 2016
€ €

Business Consultancy 374,098 175,311

Communication fees 44,477 44,280
IT Consultancy fees 16,900 4,551
Legal Consultancy 254,878 75,063

Total Consultancy Costs 690,353 299,205

Legal Costs and Settlements
The table below provides a breakdown of amounts recognised as expenditure in the reporting period 
in relation to legal costs.

2017 2016
€ €

Legal Expenses
Legal and professional 172,183 335,462
Part V (a) Inquiries 2,348,462 3,210,122
Part V (b)High Court & Supreme Court proceedings 399,012 42,144

Total 2,919,657 3,587,728

Governance Statement and Council 
Members’ Report (continued)



35Medical Council | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017

Hospitality Expenditure
The Income and Expenditure Account included the following hospitality expenditure:  

2017 2016
€ €

Staff hospitality 4,783 6,283

Committee hospitality 1,042 793

Total 5,825 7,076

Travel and Subsistence Expenditure
Travel and subsistence expenditure is categorised as follows

2017 2016
€ €

Staff - Domestic 12,805 14,396

Staff - International 14,732 29,248
Core Business 125,202 146,088

Total 152,739 189,732

Core business costs includes travel and subsistence costs for Council members in addition to witnesses and 
complainants.

Statement of Compliance
The Council has adopted the Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies (2016) and has put procedures in 
place to ensure compliance with the Code. The Medical Council was in full compliance with the Code of Practice for the 
Governance of State Bodies for 2017.

Approved by the Council on 17th May 2018 and signed on its behalf by 

Dr Anthony Breslin 
Vice-President

Mr. William Prasifka 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: 17th May 2018

Governance Statement and Council 
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Statement on the Internal Control

Scope of Responsibility
On behalf of the Council I acknowledge our 
responsibility for ensuring that an effective system 
of internal control is maintained and operated. This 
responsibility takes account of the requirements of the 
Code of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies 
(2016).

Purpose of the System of Internal 
Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage 
risk to a tolerable level rather than to eliminate it. The 
system can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, 
transactions authorised and properly recorded and 
material errors or irregularities are either prevented or 
would be detected in a timely way.

The system of internal control, which accords 
with guidance issued by the Department of Public 
Expenditure and Reform has been in place in the 
Medical Council for the year ended 31st December 
2017 and up to the date of approval of the financial 
statements except for the minor internal control 
weaknesses outlined in the internal audit of controls 
carried out in December 2017 and procurement 
breaches noted below. 

Capacity to Handle Risk
The Medical Council has an Audit, Strategy & Risk 
Committee (ASRC) comprising eight Council members 
and two external members, with financial and audit 
expertise, one of whom is the Chair. Approval was 
granted in 2017 by the Nominations and Development 
Committee to appoint an additional external member 
with IT expertise to the Committee. This appointment 
will be made in 2018. The ASRC met six times in 2017.

The Council engaged external professionals to provide 
internal audit services.

In 2017 BDO and Deloitte were involved in conducting 
a programme of work agreed with the ASRC.

The contract for BDO expired in April 2017. Following 
an open tender process Deloitte were appointed for a 
four year term.

The ASRC has developed a risk management policy 
which sets out its risk appetite, the risk management 
processes in place and details the roles and 
responsibilities of staff in relation to risk.

The policy has been issued to all staff who are expected 
to work within the Medical Council’s risk management 
policies, to alert management on emerging risks and control 
weaknesses and assume responsibility for risks and controls 
within their own area of work.

Risk and Control Framework
The Medical Council has implemented a risk management 
system which identifies and reports key risks and the 
management actions being taken to address and, to the 
extent possible, to mitigate those risks.

A risk register is in place which identifies the key risks facing 
the Medical Council and these have been identified, evaluated 
and graded according to their significance. The register is 
reviewed and updated by the ASRC on a quarterly basis. The 
outcome of these assessments is used to plan and allocate 
resources to ensure risks are managed to an acceptable level.

The risk register details the controls and actions needed to 
mitigate risks and responsibility for operation of controls 
assigned to specific staff. I confirm that a control environment 
containing the following elements is in place:

Ý procedures for all key business processes have been 
documented;

Ý financial responsibilities have been assigned at 
management level with corresponding accountability;

Ý there is an appropriate budgeting system with an annual 
budget which is kept under review by senior management;

Ý there are systems aimed at ensuring the security of the 
information and communication technology systems;

Ý there are systems in place to safeguard assets.

Ongoing Monitoring and Review
Formal procedures have been established for monitoring 
control processes and control deficiencies are communicated 
to those responsible for taking corrective action and the 
management and Council, where relevant, in a timely way. 

I confirm that the following ongoing monitoring systems are in 
place:

Ý key risks and related controls have been identified and 
processes have been put in place to monitor the operation 
of those key controls and report any identified deficiencies;

Ý reporting arrangements have been established at all levels 
where responsibility for financial management has been 
assigned; and

Ý there are regular reviews by senior management of 
periodic and annual performance and financial reports 
which indicate performance against budgets/forecasts.
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Statement on the Internal Control (continued)

Minor weaknesses in internal control were identified in 
relation to 2017 that are being dealt with by the Audit, 
Strategy & Risk Committee in collaboration with the 
executive. Responsibility for the implementation of all 
audit recommendations is attributed to the Head of the 
appropriate section.

A timeline for the implementation of the recommendation 
is assigned. The Audit Recommendations tracker is 
updated and reported to the Audit, Strategy & Risk 
Committee at each meeting. The Finance team oversee the 
steps taken to implement the recommendation and report 
the closure of the audit recommendation to the Audit, 
Strategy & Risk Committee.

Procurement
I confirm that the Medical Council has procedures in place 
to ensure compliance with current procurement rules 
and guidelines. In April 2016 the Medical Council, having 
resolved our right to access Public Sector procurement 
arrangements with the Office of Government Procurement 
(OGP), commenced discussions to tender for legal services 
well in advance of the April 2017 expiration of the existing 
legal contract. Significant delays arose in developing an 
appropriate framework given the specific and complex 
requirements of the tender and its wider impact.

Pending completion of the framework by the OGP, and 
negotiations regarding the most appropriate procurement 
process, the existing legal contract was extended for two 
six month periods while the issues were being addressed. 
The cost of legal expenditure on new cases arising from 
April to December 2017 was €122,896 excluding VAT. This 
expenditure had no negative impact on the Council’s ability 
to achieve value for money.

Following extensive reviews and consultation, a bespoke 
framework and specification was finally prepared and 
agreed for publication between MC and OGP in October 
2017. 

The Council made a strategic decision in Q1 2017 to 
engage additional legal services in order to expand the 
available market capability, thereby ensuring maximum 
value for money is obtained from any future multiparty 
framework agreements for these niche legal services. This 
resulted in the Council entering into a contract with another 
legal firm in 2017 without conducting a competitive 
procurement process.  Expenditure of €77,800 was 
incurred under this contract in 2017.  

The agreed tender for legal services was published 
as a two stage process being 1. The Pre-qualification 
questionnaire (PQQ) was published in October 2017. 
The RFT and framework agreements were published in 
December 2017.

Following closure of the tender deadline in January 2018, 
the legal tender and appointment process was completed 
by March 2018.

Review of Effectiveness
I confirm that the Medical Council has procedures to 
monitor the effectiveness of its risk management and 
control procedures. The Medical Council’s monitoring 
and review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal and external 
auditors, the Audit, Strategy & Risk Committee which 
oversees their work, and the senior management within 
the Medical Council responsible for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework.

I confirm that the Council conducted an annual review of 
the effectiveness of the internal controls in 2017.

Internal Control Issues
No significant breaches occurred in 2017.

Signed on behalf of the Medical Council

Dr Anthony Breslin 
Vice-President

Dated: 17th May 2018
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Statement of Income and Expenditure 
and Retained Revenue Reserves
for the year ended 31st December 2017

Notes 2017 2016
€ €

Income
Retention fees  2 11,111,361  10,574,820 
Registration fees  2 2,517,246 2,576,636
Miscellaneous income  2  469,647 436,454 

Total income 14,098,254 13,587,910

Expenditure

Wages and salaries 3 3,529,269 3,470,965
Retirement benefit costs 3 1,172,449 843,544
Council and meeting expenses 522,703 614,420
Staff recruitment, training and education 258,171 200,279
Rent and rates 974,260 974,176
Legal expenses  2,919,657 3,662,791
General administration 4 979,801 1,108,326
Consultancy and other professional fees 690,353 224,142
Finance charges 52,461 106,243
Audit fees 18,000 16,000
Advertising & media monitoring 14,992 24,009
Gain on asset disposals (120) (1,443,553)

Depreciation 6 276,718 374,395

Total Expenditure  (11,408,714) (10,175,737)

Operating surplus 2,689,540 3,412,173

Fair value movement in financial assets 7 194,367  49,835

Interest payable/receivable 16,094  (835) 
Interest on Late Payment of tax  (15,404) 0
Investment income  61,585  83,507 

Surplus for the year 11 2,946,182 3,544,680

Transfer from / (to) pension reserve 11 628,000 284,197

Balance Brought Forward at 1st January 20,912,176 17,083,299

Balance Carried Forward at 31st December 24,486,358 20,912,176

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes on pages 45 - 57 form part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Council on 17th May 2018 and signed on its behalf by 

Dr Anthony Breslin 
Vice-President

Mr. William Prasifka 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: 17th May 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31st December 2017

Notes 2017  2016 
€ €

Surplus for the year  2,946,182 3,544,680 

Experience (loss) / gain on retirement benefit 
obligations

10 (b) (1,186,000) 297,000

Change in assumptions underlying the present 
value of retirement benefit obligation

10 (b) 124,000 (1,209,000)

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,884,182 2,632,680 

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes on pages 45 - 57 form part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Council on 17th May 2018 and signed on its behalf by 

Dr Anthony Breslin 
Vice-President

Mr. William Prasifka 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: 17th May 2018
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Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31st December 2017

Notes 2017 2016

€ €

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment  6 1,576,605 1,640,689
Financial assets  7 10,424,488 4,235,046 

12,001,093 5,875,735

Current Assets

Receivables  8 1,078,830 1,027,243
Cash and cash equivalents 20,085,510 22,053,831

21,164,340 23,081,074

Current Liabilities (amounts falling due within one year)  

Payables  9 (8,679,075) (8,044,633)

Net Current Assets  12,485,265  15,036,441 

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 
(before retirement benefits) 

24,486,358 20,912,176

Deferred funding asset for pensions  10 (b) 704,000 513,000

Retirement benefit obligations  10 (b) (19,391,000) (17,510,000) 

Net Assets 5,799,358 3,915,176

Representing

Retained revenue reserves 11 24,486,358  20,912,176 
Retirement benefit reserve 11 (18,687,000) (16,997,000)

Total  5,799,358  3,915,176

The Statement of Cash Flows and Notes on pages 45 - 57 form part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Council on 17th May 2018 and signed on its behalf by 

Dr Anthony Breslin 
Vice-President

Mr. William Prasifka 
Chief Executive Officer

Dated: 17th May 2018
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31st December 2017

Reconciliation of deficit for the year to net cash outflow from operating activities

2017 2016
€ €

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Excess Income over expenditure 2,946,182 3,544,680
Net deferred funding for pensions (191,000) (513,000)
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant & equipment 276,718  374,395 
Decrease / (increase) in receivables (67,683) 125,320
Increase / (decrease) in payables 634,443 999,546
Increase / (decrease) in retirement benefits charge  819,000  797,198 

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 4,417,660 5,328,139

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest received 16,094 0
Payments to acquire property, plant & equipment (212,635) (111,048)
Receipts from investment portfolio (61,584) (83,507) 
Investment in equity portfolio (6,000,000) 2,000,000
Payments of portfolio management fee  61,653  42,211
Fair value movement in financial assets (194,367) (49,836)
Interest on investment portfolio accrued 4,858 3,572
Carrying cost of Property disposed 0 813,936

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities (6,385,981) 2,615,328

Net Increase / (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,968,321) 7,943,467

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January 22,053,831 14,110,364

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31st December 20,085,510 22,053,831
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31st December 2017

1. Accounting Policies
The basis of accounting and significant accounting policies 
adopted by the Medical Council are set out below. They 
have all been applied consistently throughout the year and 
for the preceding year.

a) General Information
The Medical Council was set up under the Medical 
Practitioners Act 1978 (updated in 2007), with a 
head office at Kingram House, Kingram Place, Dublin 
2.

The Medical Council’s primary objective is to protect 
the public by promoting and better ensuring high 
standards of professional conduct and professional 
education, training and competence among registered 
medical practitioners as set out in Part 2 S.6 of the 
Medical Practitioners Act 2007.

The Medical Council is a Public Benefit Entity (PBE).

b) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Medical Council for 
the year ended 31st December 2017 have been 
prepared in accordance with FRS 102, the financial 
reporting standard applicable in the UK and Ireland 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), as 
promulgated by Chartered Accountants Ireland. 

The date of transition to FRS 102 was 1st January 
2014. 

c) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, except for certain 
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair values 
as explained in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are in the form approved 
by the Minister for Health with the concurrence 
of the Minister for Finance under the Medical 
Practitioners Act 2007. The following policies have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items which 
are considered material in relation to the Medical 
Council’s financial statements.

d) Property, Plant & Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or at 
valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge 
to depreciation is calculated to write off the original 
cost or valuation of property, plant and equipment, 
less their estimated residual value, over their 
expected useful lives as follows: 

Buildings - 2% straight line

Leasehold improvements - 5% straight line 

Office equipment - 20% straight line

Fixtures and fittings - 12.5% straight line

Computer equipment and 
software development - 33.3% straight line

Premises are subject to a policy of revaluation every 5 
years with an interim valuation in year 3 per FRS 102. 
At 31st December 2017 no freehold premises were 
held on the Asset Register.

It is the policy of the Medical Council to revalue 
its artwork fixed assets every 5 years. A valuation 
was scheduled to take place in 2016 and due to 
circumstances beyond the control of the Medical 
Council this valuation has been postponed to 2018.

Software development costs on major systems are 
treated as capital items and are written off over the 
period of their expected useful life from the date of 
their implementation.

e) Financial Assets
Financial assets held as non-current assets 
are stated at their market value. Any surplus or 
deficiency is accounted for through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Income 
and Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves 
respectively. Income from financial assets together 
with any related withholding tax is recognised in the 
Statement of Income and Expenditure account in the 
year in which it is receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
The Council holds an investment in a fund consisting 
of bonds, cash investment funds and equitable 
shares in a number of companies which are listed 
and actively traded on recognised stock markets. 
The fund is managed external to the Council. 
Income from the Investment portfolio (net of related 
withholding tax) is recognised in the Statement of 
Income and Expenditure and Retained Revenue 
Reserves in the year in which it is receivable. 
The investment was initially recognised at cost 
and thereafter valued at fair value through the 
Statement of Income and Expenditure and Retained 
Revenue Reserves. Fair value is the mid-price of 
the securities in an active market at the reporting 
date after considering the tax payable on any gains 
earned. Changes in the fair value of investments 
are recognised in the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves in the 
year in which they occur.

f) Foreign Currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the Statement of Financial 
Position date. Transactions, during the year, which 
are denominated in foreign currencies, are translated 
at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transaction. The resulting exchange differences 
are dealt with in the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure and Retained Revenue Reserves.

g) Income
Fees, other than retention fees, are recognised 
as income in the year in which they are received. 
Retention fees are charged annually in respect of 
practitioners who apply to continue on the Council’s 
register. Retention fees and other income are 
recognised as income in the year to which they 
relate. 

h) Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on an accruals basis 
using the effective interest rate method.

i) Retirement Benefits
The Medical Council operates a defined benefit 
pension scheme which is funded annually on a pay-
as-you-go basis from monies available to it and from 
contributions deducted from staff salaries.

Retirement benefit scheme obligations are measured 
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method.

The retirement benefit charge to the SIERR is 
retirement benefits earned by employees in the 
period, current service costs and interest costs 
and are shown net of staff retirement benefit 
contributions which are retained by the Medical 
Council.

Actuarial gains and losses arise from changes 
in actuarial assumptions and from experience 
surpluses and deficits and are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year in 
which they occur.

Retirement benefit obligations represent the present 
value of future retirement benefit payments earned 
by staff to date. The retirement benefit reserve 
represents the funding deficit on the retirement 
benefit scheme obligations.

The Council also operates the Single Public Services 
Pension Scheme (“Single Scheme”), which is a 
defined benefit scheme for pensionable public 
servants appointed on or after 1st January 2013. 
Single Scheme members’ contributions are paid over 
to the Department of Public Expenditure and Reform 
(DPER). In addition, an employer contribution is also 
payable to DPER in accordance with DPER Circular 
28/2016. The liability in respect of the Single 
Scheme members is matched by a deferred funding 
asset on the basis of the provisions of Section 44 
of the Public Service Pensions (Single Scheme and 
other Provisions) Act 2012.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

j) Operating Leases
Rental expenditure under operating leases is recognised 
in the Statement of Income and Expenditure and 
Retained Reserves over the life of the lease. Expenditure 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
period, except where there are rental increases linked 
to the expected rate of inflation, in which case these 
increases are recognised over the life of the lease.

k) Receivables
Trade receivables are recorded at fee level determined 
by Council in accordance with Section 36 of the 
MPA 2007. Failure to complete the Annual Retention 
Application form and the payment of the Retention 
fee results in erasure from the Register of Medical 
Practitioners in compliance with Section 79 of the 
MPA Act 2007. This process negates the requirement 
to provide for doubtful debts as the fees issued are 
reversed on erasure. Other receivables are recorded at 
transaction price.  

l) Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the financial statement requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date 
and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses 
during the year. However, the nature of estimation 
means that actual outcomes could differ from those 
estimates. The following judgements have had the most 
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

 Ý Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less cost to sell and value in use. For 
the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 
units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment 
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 
at each reporting date.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017

 Ý Depreciation and Residual Values 

The Head of Finance has reviewed the asset lives 
and associated residual values of all property, 
plant and equipment classes, and in particular, the 
useful economic life and residual values of fixtures 
and fittings, and has concluded that asset lives and 
residual values are appropriate.

 Ý Provisions

The Medical Council makes provisions for legal 
and constructive obligations, which it knows to 
be outstanding at the period end date. These 
provisions are generally made based on historical 
or other pertinent information, adjusted for recent 
trends where relevant. However, they are estimates 
of the financial costs of events that may not occur 
for some years. As a result of this and the level of 
uncertainty attached to the final outcomes, the 
actual out-turn may differ significantly from that 
estimated.

 Ý Retirement Benefit Obligation

The assumptions underlying the actuarial 
valuations for which the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements are determined 
(including discount rates, rates of increase in 
future compensation levels, mortality rates and 
healthcare cost trend rates) are updated annually 
based on current economic conditions, and for any 
relevant changes to the terms and conditions of the 
pension and post-retirement plans.

The assumptions can be affected by:

(i) the discount rate, changes in the rate of return 
on high-quality corporate bonds;

(ii) future compensation levels, future labour 
market conditions;

(iii) health care cost trend rates, the rate of 
medical cost inflation in the relevant regions.



47Medical Council | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017

2. Income
Income items are made up as follows:

2017 2016
€ €

Retention fees
Annual retention fee payable by Doctors to retain their 
Registration on the Medical Register

11,111,361 10,574,820

Registration fees
Internship 234,050 240,560
General registration 2,103,570 2,146,636
Restoration to General Register of Medical Practitioners 51,056 44,870
Specialist registration fees 128,570 144,570

2,517,246 2,576,636

Miscellaneous income
Service fees 40,479 28,185
Accreditation fees 5 (12,776)
Examinations 158,836 192,425
Certificate of good standing 148,495 136,222
Late payment fee 43,198 19,192
Legal costs recovered 8,681 2,750
Other 69,953 70,456

469,647 436,454

3. Employees and Remuneration        

2017 2016
€ €

The staff costs are comprised of:
Wages and salaries 3,228,120 3,180,976
Social welfare costs 301,149 289,989

3,529,269 3,470,965

Retirement benefit costs (Note 10a) 1,172,449 843,544

4,701,718 4,314,509 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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3.1 Pension-related deductions

2017 2016
€ €

Pension-related deductions 107,517 125,335

Amount due to the Department at year-end. 8,849 9,275

3.2 Bonus payments

No Bonus payments were made to staff during 2017. 

3.3 Aggregate Employee Salary costs

Salary Costs Termination 
benefits

Post-employment 
benefits

Other

Aggregate employee salary 2,401,511 0 0 0

Key management personnel 522,792 0 0 0
Chief Executive Officer 117,545 0 0 0

The gross salary paid to the CEO includes an adjustment in line with requirements specified under the Haddington 
Road Agreement. The pension entitlements of the Chief Executive Officer do not extend beyond the pension 
entitlements in the public sector defined benefit superannuation scheme. 

One termination payment was made during 2017. On the basis of legal advice received the details of this 
termination payment are not reported in the Financial Statements.

3.4   Number of employees

The average number of persons employed during the year was 69 (2016: 70)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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4. Expenditure
Expenditure items are made up as follows:

2017 2016
€ €

General Administration
Insurance 83,041  83,219
Light and heat 100,898  92,080
Repairs and maintenance 85,975  100,066
Equipment maintenance 0  (357)
Printing, postage and stationery  37,322  114,443
File administration and storage 20,197  37,331
Telephone and modem charges 31,390  30,467
Computer costs 305,184  309,384
Caretaking and cleaning 34,992  37,062
Security 23,692  34,982
Accreditations 139,162  132,843
Research 37,303  44,373
General expenses 53,889  55,164
Internal Audit  26,756  37,269 

979,801  1,108,326

5. Taxation
Section 32 of the Finance Act 1994 provides exemption from taxation on investment income of The  
Medical Council. The Medical Council is, however, not entitled to a repayment of D.I.R.T. where this has been 
deducted from deposit interest.

The Medical Council is a Non Commercial State Sponsored Body within the meaning of Section 227 Taxes 
Consolidation Act and Schedule 4 of that Act.

The Medical Council does not charge VAT on its fees and it does not reclaim VAT on its purchases.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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6. Property, Plant & Equipment

Buildings & 
Leasehold 

Improvements
Office  

Equipment
Fixtures and 

Fittings
 Computer 
Equipment  Total

Cost € € € € €

As at 1st January 2017 1,906,674 52,244 1,130,489 813,707 3,903,114

Additions 25,000 0 9,619 178,016 212,635
Disposal 0  0 0 (1,306) (1,306)

At 31st December 2017 1,931,674 52,244 1,140,108 990,417 4,114,443

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1st January 2017 457,784 27,152 1,100,673 676,816 2,262,425
Charge for the year 92,115 10,080 12,968 161,555 276,718
Disposals 0 0 0 (1,305) (1,305)

At 31st December 2017 549,899 37,232 1,113,641 837,066 2,537,838

Net book value

At 31st December 2017 1,381,775 15,012 26,467 153,351 1,576,605

At 31st December 2016 1,448,890 25,092 29,816 136,891 1,640,689

Listed amongst the values for fixtures and fittings is a small selection of decorative art which is situated in the 
offices at Kingram House. This artwork is valued in line with the directives of FRS 102 Section 17.3 - Heritage 
Assets. It currently has a carrying nil value pending valuation in 2018.

6.1 Property, Plant & Equipment Prior Year

 Buildings & 
Leasehold 

Improvements
 Office  

Equipment
 Fixtures and 

Fittings
 Computer 
Equipment  Total 

Cost € € € € €

As at 1st January 2016 3,301,392 38,582 1,139,540 721,909 5,201,423

Additions 0 13,662 5,588 91,798 111,048
Disposal (1,394,718)  0 (14,639) 0 (1,409,357)

At 31st December 2016 1,906,674 52,244 1,130,489 813,707 3,903,114 

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1st January 2016 922,362 17,072 1,006,760 537,258 2,483,452
Charge for the year 116,205 10,080 108,552 139,558 374,395
Disposals (580,783) 0 (14,639) 0 (595,422)

At 31st December 2016 457,784 27,152 1,100,673 676,816 2,262,425 

Net book value

At 31st December 2016 1,448,890 25,092 29,816 136,891 1,640,689 

At 31st December 2015  2,379,030  21,510  132,780  184,651  2,717,971 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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7. Financial Assets 

2017 2016
€ €

Fair Value
At 1st January 4,235,046 6,147,487
Fair value movement in financial assets 194,367 49,835
Investment income 61,584 83,507
Management fee (61,651) (42,211)
Interest income/(expenditure) (4,858) (3,572) 
Funds To/(From) Portfolio 6,000,000 (2,000,000)

At 31st December 10,424,488 4,235,046 

The fair value is the mid-price of the financial assets in an active market at the reporting date as the bid-price of 
the financial asset is not quoted.

8. Receivables

2017 2016

€ €

Prepayments 951,838 939,608

Trade receivables 70,070 47,319
Sundry receivables 56,922 40,316

1,078,830 1,027,243

Included in prepayments is an amount of €605,250 being the balance of an upfront rent payment of €807,000 on 
the Kingram House property paid 11th March 2008. This is being written off over the remaining years of the lease.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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9. Payables

2017 2016
€ €

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade payables and accruals 1,488,358 1,499,839
Deferred income - retention fees (Note 10) 5,709,377 5,411,259
Provision for legal costs 410,000 240,000
Provision for direct transfer of bequest to charity/ research 567,107 567,107
Provision for employer pension contribution 504,233 326,428

8,679,075 8,044,633

Movement in legal provision:

Legal provision at 1st January 240,000 396,874
Utilised in 2017 (140,000) (211,874)
Provided for in 2017 310,000 55,000

410,000 240,000

Deferred income of €5.7m (€5.4m 2016) relates to fees received in respect of periods after the year end.

10. Retirement Benefit Costs

a. Analysis of total retirement benefit costs charged to the Statement of Income and Expenditure

2017 2016
€ €

Medical Council defined benefit scheme
Current service costs 959,000 767,000
Interest on retirement benefits Scheme obligations 317,000 367,000
Employee contributions (90,355) (103,884)
Less: service costs related to single scheme (191,000) (513,000)

994,645 517,116

Single public sector scheme
Current Service Cost 191,000 513,000
Deferred retirement benefit funding (191,000) (513,000)
Employer Contribution 177,804 326,428 

177,804 326,428

Employee contribution by SPSPS members amounted to €59,178 in 2017 and were remitted to the Department of 
Public Expenditure and Reform.

Total retirement benefit cost €1,172,449

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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The Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform, based on actuarial considerations and pursuant to section 16 (4) 
of the Public Service Pension (Single Scheme and Other Provisions) Act 2012 has decided that:

 Ý an employer contribution is to be paid in respect of certain members of the Single Public Sector Pension 
scheme and

 Ý the rate of that Employer contribution is equal to three times the employee contribution paid by the single 
scheme member.

Employer contributions must be paid by public service bodies who are “wholly or mainly from sources other than 
directly or indirectly out of the Central Fund”. 

As a self-financing public body entity, the sum of €504,232 represents the Medical Councils liability for employer 
contributions to the Single Public Service Pensions scheme for the period 1st January 2013 to 31st December 
2017.

b. Movement in net retirement benefit obligations

The amount due has not yet been paid over to DPER and is included in payables (Note 9)

2017  2016
€ €

Net retirement benefit obligations at 1st January 17,510,000 15,800,803

Current service cost  959,000 767,000
Interest costs  317,000 367,000
Actuarial loss/(gain)  1,062,000 912,000
Retirement benefits paid in the year (457,000) (336,803)

Medical Council defined benefit scheme Total 19,391,000  17,510,000

Medical Council defined benefit scheme 18,687,000 16,997,000

Single Public Sector Pension Scheme  704,000 513,000

Net retirement benefit obligations at 31st December  19,391,000 17,510,000 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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c. History of defined benefit obligations

2017 2016 2015 2014
€’000  €’000 €’000 €’000

Defined benefit obligations 19,391 17,510 15,801 11,900

Experience losses / (gains) on defined benefit scheme 
obligations

1,062 912 2,722 (781)

d. General description of the scheme 

The Medical Council operates an unfunded defined benefit superannuation scheme for staff which is funded 
annually on a pay as you go basis from monies available to it and from contributions from staff salaries.       

The results set out below are based on an actuarial valuation of the retirement benefit obligations in respect 
of serving retired staff of the Council as at 31st December 2017. This valuation was carried out by a qualified 
independent actuary for the purposes of the accounting standard, Financial Reporting Standard No. 102 – 
Retirement Benefits (FRS 102).

2017 2016

Rate of increase in salaries  2.81% 2.0%

Rate of increase in retirement benefits in payment  2.31% 2.0%
Discount rate 1.83% 2.35%
Inflation rate 1.81% 2.0%

Mortality basis:

%

Males 58% ILT 15M

Females 62% ILT 15F

Average future life expectancy according to the mortality tables used to determine the retirement benefits 

2017 2016

Male aged 65 21.2 years 22 years 

Female aged 65 23.7 years 25 years

e. Deferred funding asset for pensions

In compliance with the Public Service Pensions (Single Scheme and Other Provisions) Act 2012, the Medical 
Council as the “ Relevant Authority” has calculated the retirement benefit applicable to the Single Public Sector 
Pension Scheme at the 31st December 2017.

The deferred funding asset for pensions relates to the creation of an asset equal to the defined benefit liability 
of this scheme. The liability in respect of the Single Scheme members is matched by a deferred funding asset on 
the basis of the provisions of Section 44 of the Public Service Pensions (Single Scheme and other Provisions) Act 
2012.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017



55Medical Council | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017

11. Reserves
Retirement  

Benefit Reserve
Retained  
Reserves Total

€ € €

At 1st January 2017 (16,997,000) 20,912,176 3,915,176

Surplus for the year -  2,946,182 2,946,182
Actuarial loss for the year (1,062,000) -  (1,062,000)
Transfer to retirement benefits reserve (628,000) 628,000 0 

At 31st December 2017 (18,687,000) 24,486,358 5,799,358 
 

The retirement benefits reserve relates to the Medical Council’s defined benefit scheme and   represents the 
cumulative cost of retirement benefits less amounts paid out to date. The transfer of€628,000 in the year 
represents the difference between the full cost of retirement benefits recognised in the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure and Revenue Reserves Account relating to the Council’s scheme of €1,085,000 and the amounts 
paid out in the year of €457,000.

12. Operating Lease Commitments
The Medical Council are party to a 20 year lease commenced on the 1st January 2013 and will expire on 31st 
December 2032. 

At 31st December 2017 the Medical Council had the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods:

€

Payable within one year 820,000

Payable within two to five years 3,280,000
Payable after five years 8,200,000

12,300,000

Operating lease payments recognised as an expense were €820,000 (2016:€820,000)

13. Contingent Liabilities
A number of High Court proceedings have been taken against The Medical Council. The Council is vigorously 
defending the proceedings and is satisfied that they will not be successful and have not provided for any liability 
arising thereon. Council’s costs in relation to defending the proceedings have been provided for in note 9.

14. Approval of Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved by the Council on 17th May 2018.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2017
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Appendix A

Council Meetings
Council Member Council 

Meetings
Extraordinary 

Meetings
Total

Dr John Barragry 7 1 8

Ms Vicky Blomfield 3 1 4

Dr Anthony Breslin 7 3 10

Ms Katharine Bulbulia 7 4 11

Mr Declan Carey 0 0 0

Ms Anne Carrigy 6 1 7

Dr Sean Curran 4 1 5

Mr Fergus Clancy 4 3 7

Dr Audrey Dillon 4 0 4

Dr Rita Doyle 6 2 8

Ms Mary Duff 5 1 6

Professor Fidelma Dunne 5 0 5

Professor Bairbre Golden 7 5 12

Dr Ruairi Hanley 6 1 7

Mr Seán Hurley 7 2 9

Professor Alan Johnson 6 0 6

Professor Mary Leader 5 1 6

Ms Catherine McKenna 0 0 0

Ms Margaret Murphy 6 1 7

Mr John Nisbet 5 4 9

Professor Colm O’Herlihy 3 0 3

Mr Tom O’Higgins 7 3 10

Ms Marie Kehoe O’Sullivan 2 0 2

Dr Michael Ryan 5 4 9

Ms Cornelia Stuart 5 3 8

Dr Consilia Walsh 4 2 6

Professor Freddie Wood 4 3 7

Extraordinary Council Meetings are meetings held usually at very short notice to deal with urgent matters so by their 
nature they have lower attendance, particularly by Council members not based in Dublin.

 Ý Mr Declan Carey resigned with effect from the 30th March, 2017

 Ý Ms Marie Kehoe O’Sullivan resigned with effect from the 30th March, 2017

 Ý Ms Vicky Blomfield was appointed with effect from the 4th May, 2017

 Ý Ms Catherine McKenna was appointed with effect from the 3rd October, 2017
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Audit, Strategy and Risk Committee 
Six meetings held in 2017

The Audit, Strategy and Risk Committee is chaired 
by Mr Sean Hurley and monitors the integrity of the 
financial statements, review the internal control and 
risk management systems and lead on the strategic 
development of the Council.

Name Meetings

Mr Seán Hurley (Council member) (Chair) 6

Professor Freddie Wood (Council member) 1

Dr John Barragry (Council member) 5

Dr Anthony Breslin (Council member) 5

Ms Anne Carrigy (Council member) 5

Dr Sean Curran (Council member) 2

Professor Bairbre Golden (Council member) 1

Mr Stephen McGovern (external) 6

Dr Terry McWade (external) 6

Mr Tom O’Higgins (Council member) 3

Education, Training and Professional 
Development Committee
Seven meetings held in 2017

The training needs of tomorrow’s doctors and ongoing 
education requirements of those currently registered is 
overseen by the Education, Training and Professional 
Development Committee, which is chaired by Professor 
Colm O’Herlihy.

Name Meetings

Professor Colm O’Herlihy (Council member)
(Chair)

1

Mr Declan Ashe (external) 2

Dr John Barragry (Council member) 7

Dr Deirdre Bennett (external) 4

Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Council member) 6

Dr Anna Clarke (external) 5

Mr Joe Duignan (external) 7

Professor John Jenkins (external) 2

Professor Alan Johnson (Council member) 6

Dr Siun O’Flynn (external) 1

Ms Marie Kehoe - O’Sullivan (external) 4

Professor Freddie Wood (Council member) 2

Registration and Continuing 
Practice Committee
Eight meetings held in 2017

Key to the Council’s role is the maintenance of the 
register of medical practitioners, entry to which permits 
doctors to practise medicine in Ireland. The Registration 
& Continuing Practice Committee is chaired by Dr 
Anthony Breslin and advises the Council on policy and 
statutory frameworks governing entry to the register and 
continuing registration of doctors.

Names Meetings

Dr Anthony Breslin (Council member)(Chair) 7

Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Council member) 4

Ms Mary Culliton (external) 2

Ms Mary Duff (Council member) 1

Dr Mary Holohan (external) 6

Ms Lorraine Horgan (external) 3

Dr Muiris Houston (external) 5

Dr Niamh Macey (external) 4

Dr Terry McWade (external) 5

Ms Anne Pardy (external) 6

Dr Consilia Walsh (Council member) 2

Professor Freddie Wood (Council member) 2
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Nominations and Development 
Committee
Five Meetings

The President, Professor Freddie Wood is chair of the 
Council’s Nominations and Development Committee, 
which advises Council on the nomination process for 
appointments to committees and also advises on the 
provision of induction, training and development for 
members.

Names Meetings

Professor Freddie Wood (Council Member) 
(Chair)

3

Dr Audrey Dillon (Council Member) 5

Dr Anthony Breslin (Council Member) 5

Ms Margaret Murphy (Council Member) 3

Ethics and Professionalism 
Committee
Four meetings held in 2017

An Ethics and Professionalism Committee has been 
established, is chaired by Dr Audrey Dillon, in order 
to support the Council’s work in supporting the 
profession’s adherence to best international medical 
practice.

Names Meetings

Dr Audrey Dillon (Council member)(Chair) 2

Dr John Barragry (Council member) 4

Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Council member) 3

Dr Sean Curran (Council member) 2

Professor Bairbre Golden (Council member) 2

Dr John Jenkins (external) 3

Professor Alan Johnson (Council member) 1

Dr Barry Lyons (external) 4

Ms Sunniva Mc Donagh (external) 4

Ms Margaret Murphy (Council member) 1

Professor Freddie Wood (Council Member) 0

Monitoring Committee
Seven meetings held in 2017

Names Meetings

Dr Ruairi Hanley (Chairman) (Council 
member)

6

Ms Mary Culliton (external) 5

Professor Eamonn Breatnach (external) 3

Dr Ailis Ni Riain (external) 7

Dr Declan Woods (external) 4

Ms Marie Kehoe O’Sullivan (external) 4

Dr Abdul Bulbulia (external) 5

Dr John Casey (external) 7
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Preliminary Proceedings Committee
11 meetings held in 2017

It is imperative that the Council’s systems for the 
handling of complaints against doctors are robust, 
effective and fair. To this end, Ms Anne Carrigy has 
been appointed Chair of the Preliminary Proceedings 
Committee which considers initial complaints.

Names Meetings

Ms Anne Carrigy (Council member) (Chair) 8

Ms Kathleen Beggan (external) 7

Dr Anthony Breslin 3

Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Council member) 10

Dr Rita Doyle (Council member) 9

Dr Joseph Duignan (external) 7

Dr Anne Jeffers (external) 7

Dr Michael McGloin (external) 8

Dr Angela McNamara (external) 7

Ms Margaret Murphy (Council member) 5

Dr Ailis Ni Rian (external) 9

Dr Freeda O’Connell (external) 7

Dr Patrick O’Carroll (external) 7

Professor Diarmuid O’Donoghue (external) 9

Dr Colm O’Herlihy (Council member) 3

Professor Mark Laher (external) 5

Dr John Barragry (Council member) 9

Dr Ailish Quinlan 8

Health Committee 
Seven meetings held in 2017

The Health Committee’s primary role is that of 
supporting the maintenance of registration and 
appropriate monitoring of doctors with identified health 
problems, but where there is no patient risk that could 
be subject of a complaint to the Preliminary Proceedings 
Committee.  The Committee is comprised of both 
medical personnel (primarily GP’s and psychiatrists) 
and non-medical members, who are involved in the 
healthcare/ medical sector. Dr Rita Doyle is the 
Chairperson. 

Names Meetings

Dr Rita Doyle (Council member) 7

Ms Mary Duff (Council member) 3

Dr Ailis Ni Riain (external) 7

Dr Claire McNicholas (external) 5

Mr Rolande Anderson (external) 7

Veronica Larkin (external) 7

Professor Jim Lucey (external) 6

Dr Mark Murphy (external) 6

Dr Fiona Magee (external) 6

Ms Barbara Lynch (external) 4

Dr Eamon Keenan (external) 6

Dr Blanaid Hayes (external) 3

Dr Peter Staunton (external) 3
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Fitness to Practise Committee
The Fitness to Practise Committee, chaired 
by Dr Michael Ryan, conducts inquiries into 
complaints. Inquiries are heard by a Fitness 
to Practise “Panel” which is made up of three 
members of the Fitness to Practise Committee, 
two non-medical people and one doctor. The 
Chairperson of the Inquiry Panel is a member 
of the Medical Council and is responsible for 
making sure that the inquiry is conducted in 
accordance with fair procedures.

Names Meetings

Dr Michael Ryan (Council member) (Chair) 25

Ms Vicky Blomfield (Council member) 1

Dr Eamann Breatnach (external) 1

Mr Michael Brophy (external) 3

Dr Abdul Bulbulia (external) 9

Dr John Casey (external) 12

Mr Fergus Clancy (Council member) 1

Dr Geraldine Corrigan (external) 1

Ms Mary Culliton (external) 13

Professor Anthony Cunningham 3

Mr Denis Doherty (external) 0

Ms Mary Duff (Council member) 30

Professor Fidelma Dunne (Council member) 6

Ms Annette Durkan (external) 2

Ms Catherine Earley (external) 9

Mr T.C Ewing (external) 15

Ms Ger Feeney (external) 1

Professor Bairbre Golden (Council member) 2

Dr Ruairi Hanley (Council member) 0

Dr Brendan Healy (external) 32

Dr Mary Henry (external) 10

Mr Seán Hurley (Council member) 0

Ms Winifred Jeffers (external) 5

Professor Alan Johnson (Council member) 0

Mr Stephen Kealy (external) 6

Ms Marie Kehoe-O’Sullivan (external) 1

Mr John Kincaid (external) 0

Ms Gloria Kirwan (external) 0

Professor Mary Leader (Council member) 0

Dr Deidre Madden (external) 0

Mr. Gerard Magee (external) 0

Ms Una Marren Bell (external) 4

Dr John McAdoo (external) 0

Dr Michael McDermott (external) 0

Professor Damien McLoughlin (external) 0

Mr Frank McManus (external) 0

Professor David Morgan (external) 1

Ms Meg Murphy (external) 3

Mr Paul Murphy (external) 2

Mr John Nisbet (Council member) 2

Dr. Danny O’Hare (external) 1

Mr Tom O’Higgins (Council member) 6

Dr Tim O’Neill (external) 6

Ms Melanie Pine (external) 6

Ms Cornelia Stuart (Council member) 4

Ms Joan Tattan-Denis (external) 5

Dr Consilia Walsh (Council member) 0
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Strategy and Policy Committee
Five meetings in 2017

Names Meetings

Professor Alan Johnson (Council member) 5

Professor Freddie Wood (Council member) 2

Dr John Jenkins (external) 5

Professor Suzanne Donnelly (external) 2

Ms Áine Hyland (external) 5

Professor Pauline McAvoy (external) 4

Mr Sean Tierney (external) 3

Dr Dara Byrne (external) 1

Professor Colette Cowan (external) 1

Dr Catherine Diskin (external) 1

Asset Management Committee  
Four meetings in 2017

Names Meetings

Dr John Barragry (Council member) 3

Mr Sean Curran (Council member) 1

Mr Terry McWade (external) 4

Mr Stephen McGovern (external) 4



63Medical Council | Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017

Appendix B

Registration Statistics
 Ý Pre-registration Examination Statistics

 Ý Divisions of the Medical Register

 Ý Categories of Applicant

 Ý Gender Breakdown

 Ý Age range of doctors on Register

Pre-Registration Examination Statistics

  Pass Fail Total 

Level 2 (2015) 159 192 351

Level 2 (2016) 103 154 257

Level 2 (2017) 27 69 96

       

Level 3 (Clinical Based examination) 2015 101 108 209

Level 3 (Clinical Based examination) 2016 132 61 193

Level 3 (Clinical Based examination) 2017 108 67 175

  Total Sitting Exam Pass Rate

Level 2 2015 (Computer Based examination) 351 45%

Level 2 2016 (Computer Based examination) 257 40%

Level 2 2017 (Computer Based examination) 95 51%

     

Level 3 2015 (Clinical Based examination) 209 48%

Level 3 2016 (Clinical Based examination) 193 68%

Level 3 2017 (Clinical Based examination) 175 62%
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Divisions of the Medical Register

Divisions 2015 2016 2017

General Division 42% 8547 42% 9,102 41% 9,274

Specialist Division 41% 8370 40% 8,807 41% 9,306

Trainee Specialist Division 12% 2371 12% 2,669 12% 2,811

Intern Registration 5% 932 5% 995 5% 1,081

Supervised Division 1% 224 1% 195 1% 157

Visiting EEA 0% 29 0% 27 0% 20

Total   20473 21,795   22,649

Categories of Applicant 2015 2016 2017 

Category 1 (Qualified in Ireland)  12,519 61% 12,827 59% 13,116 58%

Category 2 (EU Citizen qualified in EU/EEA) 2050 10% 2,254 10% 2,415 11%

Category 3 (Non – EU Citizen qualified in EU/EEA) 689 3% 776 4% 816 3%

Category 4 (Qualified outside EU/EEA) 5,215 26% 5,938 27% 6,302 28%

Total 20,473 100% 21,795 100% 22,649 100%

  2015 2016 2017

Gender of Doctors 
on the Register

Male Female Total Male Female Total Male Female Total

Total No. of doctors 
registered

12,076 8,397 20,473 12,807 8,988 21,795 13,219 9,430 22,649

% 59% 41%   59% 41%   58% 42%  

Age Range of 
doctors on Register 2015  2016 2017

20-35 7,236 7,827 8,046

36-45 5,315 5,679 5,939

46-55 4,141 4,349 4,553

56-64 2,491 2,599 2,721

65-69 703 718 770

70-80 523 560 561

81-90 60 58 55

Over 90 4 5 4

Grand Total: 20,473 21,795 22,649
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Appendix C

Complaints and Fitness to Practise Inquiry Statistics 
 Ý Origin of complaints received

 Ý Complaints by gender

 Ý Complaints by divisions of the Register

 Ý Complaints by age range

 Ý Area of Qualifications

 Ý Types of complaints received

 Ý Complaints considered by PPC

 Ý Monitoring Committee

 Ý Health Committee

 Ý Fitness to Practise Inquiries

o Inquiries Held

o Outcomes

o Public/Private

o Sanctions imposed

o Legal representation

o Reasons for private hearings

o Section 60 applications

Origin/source of complaints received in 2017 2015 2016 2017

Member of the Public 288 316 293

Healthcare professional 25 18 19

The Medical Council – the doctor’s conduct came to the attention of the 
Medical Council whether through the media or otherwise

24 32 15

The Medical Council, having been notified by a body in another state 16 35 6

Solicitor or Solicitors firm not acting on behalf of a member of public  
(i.e. complaining about a failure to furnish a report etc)

7 2 8

Healthcare Institution (private hospitals, nursing homes etc.) 6 4 7

HSE 2 1 5

Other Irish Regulatory Body 1 1 0

Patient Advocacy Group 0 1 1

Anonymous 0 1 2

Total 369 411 356
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Complaints by Gender 2015 2016 2017

Male 317 339 310

Female 135 144 140

Total 452 483 450

No. of doctors on the register 20,473 21,795 22,649 

% of doctors complained against 2.2% 2.2% 2%

Divisions of the Register Male Female Total

General Division 72 30 102

Specialist Division 228 102 330

Trainee Specialist Division 7 8 15

Intern Registration 1 0 1

Supervised Division 2 0 2

Total 310 140 450

Complaints by Age Ranges 2017

20-35 years 34

36-45 years 98

46-55 years 146

56-64 years 114

65+ years 58

Total 450

Area of Qualification of doctors complained against Male Female Total

Qualified in Ireland (Cat 1) 230 114 344

Qualified in EU/EEA (Cat 2) 27 17 44

Qualified outside EU/EEA (Cat 3 & 4) 53 9 62

Total 310 140 450
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Types of Complaints received

Categories of Complaint Received 

Professional Conduct 2015 2016 2017

Criminal Convictions 0 0 1

Informing Medical Council of other regulatory proceedings/decisions, 
criminal charges and/or convictions.

3 6 4

Breach of the Medical Practitioners Act 2007 13 15 6

Dishonesty 8 17 28

Total 24 38 39

Responsibilities to Patients 2015 2016 2017

Reporting obligations concerning abuse of children/elderly/vulnerable 
adults

1 3 5

Treating patients with dignity 37 27 47

Refusal to treat 19 24 16

Conscientious objection 0 1 0

Emergencies 6 3 5

Appropriate Professional Skills 48 40 16

Adequate language Skills 7 4 2

Communication 151 136 126

Physical and intimate examinations 11 3 10

Personal relationships with patients 3 5 3

Assisted Human Reproduction 1 0 0

End of life care 1 3 1

Total 285 249 231

Medical Records and Confidentiality 2015 2016 2017

Maintenance of accurate and up to date patient medical records 8 15 12

Confidentiality 27 10 16

Total 35 25 28

Professional Practice 2015 2016 2017

Maintaining Competence 14 31 0

Reporting concerns about colleagues 2 0 6

Professional relationships between colleagues 6 4 2

Professional Indemnity 0 0 1

Accepting Posts 0 0 2

Treatment of relatives 7 3 1

Advertising 1 3 3

Premises and Practice Information 2 2 0

Medical reports 8 18 25

Certification 4 10 2

Prescribing 36 47 45

Referral of patients 23 18 11

Locum and rota arrangement 0 0 2

Telemedicine 1 0 0

Retirement and transfer of patient care 0 0 7

Fees 4 2 4

Total 108 138 111



Medical Council | Annual Report and Financial Statements 201768

Relevant Medical Disability 2015 2016 2017

Alcohol Abuse 1 3 2

Drug Abuse 3 3 4

Mental or behavioural illness 2 4 1

Physical illness 0 1 0

Total 6 11 7

Treatment 2015 2016 2017

Consent 12 12 11

Clinical investigations and examinations 89 71 68

Diagnosis 90 91 98

Follow up care 42 45 39

Surgical Procedures 36 28 28

Continuity of care 8 28 15

Total 277 275 259

Total No of Categories 735 736 675

Complaints considered by Preliminary Proceedings Committee

PPC Decisions 2017

PF 56

NPF 351

Total 407

NPF of Which 2017

No further action 326

Mediation 5

Professional Comp 11

Another Body 2

Withdrawal 7

Total 351

Monitoring Committee 2015 2016 2017

No. of doctors with the monitoring committee as at 31.12.16 15 18 18

No. of new doctors with the Monitoring Committee 4 6 12

No longer with Monitoring Committee end of year 14* 5* 12

* Please note this figure is not included with the no. of docs with the Monitoring Committee as at 31.12.16

Health Committee 2017 2016 2015

No. of doctors with the Health Committee as at 31.12.16 45 44 41

No of new doctors with the Health Committee 9 9 16

Release from Health Committee 8 6* 10*

* Please note this figure is not included with the no. of doctors with the Health Committee as at 31.12.16

Reasons for Referral to Health Committee 2017

Substance Misuse 20

Mental Disability 23

Neurological Disorder 2
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Source of Referral to Health Committee 2017

Self 12

Third Party 22

Medical Council 11

Fitness to Practise Inquiries

Inquires Held 2015 2016 2017

Completed 35 46 42

Adjourned 1 2 4

Pending (as at 31/12/16) 45 44 50

No. of Inquiry Days 73 134 67

Average No of days per inquiry 2.08 2.8 1.5

* includes 7 days FTPC Callover meetings 1

Outcomes of Inquires 2015 2016 2017

Guilty of Professional Misconduct 6 17 1

Guilty relevant medical disability (RMD) 2 2 1

Poor professional performance 6 11 4

Not Guilty / Fit to engage in practice of medicine / no case 7 8 16

Undertaking pursuant to S67 11 12 18

Contravention of the Act 4 4 2

The total no. of outcomes can be greater than the total no of inquiries held in a calendar year as a practitioner  
can have more than one finding against them

Inquiries Held in Public/Private/Part Public 2015 2016 2017

Public 18 20 13

Private 17 26 21

Concluded at preliminary private callover 5 2 12

Sanctions Imposed on a RMP by Council 2015 2016 2017

Cancellation of registration (2007 Act) 5 6 3

Conditions 3 12 3

Suspension 0 2 0

Advise / Admonish / Censure 7 14 3

Censure in writing and fine 2 1 2

Total 17 35 11

The total no. of sanctions can be greater than the total no of inquiries held in a calendar year as a practitioner  
can have more than one finding against them
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Legal representation

Year Represented Doctors Unrepresented

2014 12 7

2015 18 17

2016 30 16

2017 19 27

Reasons for Complaints being held in private: No. 

Doctors Health 3

Respect for privacy by Complainant 13

Nature of the complaint 5

Completed at preliminary stage/Callover 12

No. of section 60 applications/ undertakings to Council  No.

No. of Matters considered by Council under S60 10

No. of applications to High Court 3

No. of undertakings 4
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Appendix D

Freedom Of Information Statistics

 Type of Requests 2015 2016 2017

Personal 17 19 23

Non Personal 18 15 25

Mixed 0 1 2

No. of Freedom of Information Requests 2015 2016 2017

Brought Forward from Previous Year 1 0 2

Requests received in current year 35 35 50

Cases answered in Current year 34 33 52

Live Cases at year end 1 2 0

Status of Requests 2015 2016 2017

Granted 11 13 10

Part Granted 8 5 17

Refused 5 8 10

Withdrawn/Outside FOI 9 5 14

Transferred   2 1
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